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25 years of the Journal
This issue of the Journal of Lib-

eral History, number 100, marks 
the twenty-fifth anniversary 

of the publication originally known 
as the Liberal Democrat History Group 
Newsletter, then the Journal of Liberal 
Democrat History and, since 2003, as our 
current title.

I think it is true to say that those of 
us involved in launching the Liberal 
Democrat History Group in 1988 – 
inspired by the Liberal History Group 
in the pre-merger Liberal Party – had 
no idea that we would end up where 
we are now.

Our original intention was simply 
to organise fringe meetings at the Lib-
eral Democrat autumn party confer-
ences. Slightly to our surprise, many 
of them turned out to be extremely 
popular, and we gradually accumu-
lated a group of people willing to help 
out with other tasks. So, in 1994, we 
started to organise meetings both at 
the spring party conferences, and also 
in London, usually at the National Lib-
eral Club, for the benefit of non-con-
ference attendees.

And in September 1993, we pro-
duced the first issue of the Group’s 
Newsletter, designed simply to publicise 
our activities and to publish reports of 
our meetings and a few book reviews 
of interest to students of Liberal 
history.

We managed to stick to a (more or 
less) regular quarterly publication, 
and twenty-five years on we can look 
back at one hundred issues, including 
twenty special themed issues, six books 
(published with the help of our friends 
at Politico’s and Biteback), six shorter 
booklets, a rapidly developing website, 
and an expanding range of contribu-
tors and helpers. (Which is not to say 
that we wouldn’t welcome more con-
tributions and help!) 

Our underlying aim has never 
changed, though – to promote the 
study and research of Liberal history, 
whether relating to the Liberal Party, 
SDP, Liberal Democrats or, more 

Journal of Liberal 
History special issues
The Liberal commitment to Europe 
(98, spring 2018)

Liberal Democrats and the coalition: 
the policy record (92, autumn 2016)

Coalition and the Liberal Democrats 
(88, autumn 2015)

The Liberal Party and the First World 
War (87, summer 2015)

The first 25 years of the Liberal 
Democrats (83, summer 2014)

David Lloyd George (77, winter 
2012–13)

The Liberal experience of coalition 
government (72, autumn 2011)

Liberals and the left (67, summer 
2010)

Women and Liberalism (62, spring 
2009)

The 1906 landslide – the legacy (54, 
spring 2007)

Liberals and the right (47, spring 
2005)

Liberals and international policy (42, 
spring 2004)

A short history of political virginity 
(the SDP) (39, summer 2003)

Liberals and Ireland (33, winter 
2001–02)

Crossing the floor (political 
defections) (25, winter 1999–2000)

Liberals and Nationalists (22, spring 
1999)

William Ewart Gladstone (20, autumn 
1998) 

The legacy of the Liberal-SDP Alliance 
and merger (18, spring 1998)

The Liberal revival (14, spring 1997)

The Liberal Party and the Great War 
(10, spring 1996)

Liberal Democrat 
History Group books
British Liberal Leaders (2015)

Dictionary of Liberal Quotations (2nd 
edn 2013, 1st edn 1999)

Peace, Reform and Liberation: A History 
of Liberal Politics in Britain, 1679–2011 
(2011)

Dictionary of Liberal Thought (2007)

Great Liberal Speeches (2001)

Dictionary of Liberal Biography (1998)

Liberal Democrat 
History Group booklets
Liberal History: A concise history of 
the Liberal Party, SDP and Liberal 
Democrats (2017, 2016, 2010, 2005)

Liberal Thinkers (2018, 2014)

Liberalism (2017, 2015)

Mothers of Liberty: Women who built 
British Liberalism (2017, 2012)

Liberal Leaders: Leaders of the Liberal 
Party, SDP and Liberal Democrats since 
1900 (2013, 2009)

Liberal Leaders: Leaders of the Liberal 
Party from 1828 to 1899 (2010)

non-members of the Liberal Demo-
crats alike) of the history of their polit-
ical beliefs, and to promote the study 
and research of political Liberalism – 
generally a neglected topic – amongst 
all those interested, whether academics 
or not, and to provide a platform for its 
publication.

We hope you find the Journal of Lib-
eral History helps you in one or both of 
these aims, and manages to be a stimu-
lating and enjoyable read at the same 
time.

I cannot thank enough all those who 
have made the Journal possible over the 
last twenty-five years. Here’s to the 
next quarter-century!

Duncan Brack (Editor)

broadly, British (and sometimes for-
eign) Liberalism.We wanted both to 
remind political Liberals (members and 
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How they used to look: the first issues of the three incarnations of the Journal of Liberal History

Letter to the Editor
Liberal Party Council
As David Steel says in his letter in 
issue 99 (summer 2018) the Journal is a 
respected organ of accurate history. 
As such he cannot be allowed, unchal-
lenged, to describe the Liberal Party 
Council as ‘perpetually chaotic’.

The Party Council was an impor-
tant part of the Liberal Party constitu-
tion. It comprised some 250 members 
and its membership was democrati-
cally representative of all sections of 

other members, my disagreement with 
him on a range of matters, much to 
his annoyance. These exchanges, in 
a constitutional democratic organ of 
the party, were (and still are) a funda-
mental part of the Liberal approach to 
politics.

Disappointing and disagreeable for 
David Steel the Party Council may 
well have been, but chaotic, never. 

John Smithson

the entire party. It met three (or possi-
bly four!) times a year, and was always 
well attended. As well as policy and 
administrative matters, one of its most 
important functions was the opportu-
nity of the membership to question – 
and challenge – our MPs, which it did 
most regularly and quite effectively.

I suspect it is this aspect which 
inspires Steel to describe it as ‘chaotic’. 
For example, I do recall on numer-
ous occasions expressing, along with 

Think history
Can you spare some time to help the History Group?

The Liberal Democrat History Group undertakes a wide range of 
activities – publishing this Journal and our Liberal history books 
and booklets, organising regular speaker meetings, maintaining 
the Liberal history website and providing assistance with research.

We’d like to do more, but our activities are limited by the number 
of people involved in running the Group. We would be enormously 
grateful for help with:
•	 Improving our website.
•	 Helping with our presence at Liberal Democrat conferences.
•	 Organising our meeting programme.
•	 Publicising our activities, through both social media and more traditional means.
•	 Running the organisation.

If you’d like to be involved in any of these activities, or anything else, contact the Editor, Duncan Brack  
(journal@liberalhistory.org.uk) – we would love to hear from you.
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Tim Farron as Party Leader
Leadership
Interview with Tim Farron MP on his period as Leader of the Liberal Democrats, 
from 2015 to 2017

Tim Farron, Liberal Democrat MP for 
Westmorland and Lonsdale since 2005, 
was elected as the fifth leader of the 

Liberal Democrats in July 2015. In June 20 16, 
after the referendum on Britain’s membership 
of the EU, he was quick to call for a further ref-
erendum on the final deal following the negoti-
ations, and committed the Liberal Democrats to 
argue for the UK to remain within the EU. His 
campaign in the 2017 general election, how-
ever, was dogged by repeated questions over his 
attitude, as a practising Christian, to gay sex. 
On 14 June 2017, six days after the election, he 
announced his intention to resign the leader-
ship, and formally stood down when his succes-
sor was elected a month later. In June this year, 
the Journal of Liberal History interviewed him 
about his period as leader.

JLH: When did you decide that you first wanted to 
stand for the leadership?

TF: I think it only really occurred to me that I 
might in the weeks following the general elec-
tion in 2010, when a number of younger MPs 
who were not in government encouraged me to 
run for deputy leader. Although Simon Hughes 
was successful then, I guess it set a number of us 
thinking about what might happen next. 

I think it really began during the time I was 
president of the party [2011–15]. I am always an 
optimistic and positive person, but neverthe-
less you couldn’t really look at how our poll 
rating was going, our standing in by-elections, 
local elections and the devolved parliaments 
and assemblies … It looked to me like the gen-
eral election in what turned out to be 2015 was 
going to do us a lot of damage. I don’t think I 
ever predicted just eight seats, but about twelve 
months before the election I did predict about 
thirteen or fourteen. I feared for that. I thought 
it would be awful for the party and therefore 
for the country. 

Farron launches the 
Liberal Democrat 
election manifesto, 
17 May 2017 
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Tim Farron as Party Leader
A lot of my heroes are the ‘come back from 

the dead’ type of people: Paddy Ashdown, 
Neva Orrell (my great mentor from Leyland, 
who lost her ward four times and got it back 
four times), Jo Grimond, David Steel after the 
Thorpe scandal – there’s something really joy-
ful about being part of a comeback. Obviously 
I wanted us to recover, so I thought: ‘Well, 
there’s lots of things that I wouldn’t be good at, 
but leading and building a campaigning insur-
gency was something I would be.’ So I had no 
particular thought that ‘I want it now’ or ‘I 
want it at this particular point’, I just thought 
that there was a job needing to be done and I 
thought I could do it.

JLH: You were president of the party from 2011 to 
2015. Was that a useful preparation to be leader?
TF: Yes, in terms of working out the relation-
ship with headquarters and with the party in 
the country, with the campaigners – getting 
to know them and to understand some of the 
specific issues around particular constituen-
cies and council areas. It was great for building 
relationships. 

I think when you join the party at 16, you’ve 
been to nearly every conference since then, 
been to loads of by-elections, you know a lot of 
people and you have a deep relationship with 
people in the party. It wasn’t that I needed any 
more of that, but being president gave me links 
to the professional structure of the party. It 
helped me to understand – and, forgive me, to 
be intolerant of – some of the party structures 
and the difficulties in dealing with things, par-
ticularly disciplinary issues. It reminded me 
that a lot of power is not formal, it is informal; 
and if you want to make stuff happen, you have 
to find a way to make it happen, even if the 
rules don’t formally give you permission. 

I also had to be thinking on my feet all the 
time. For all that people think of me as a sceptic 
about the coalition, I voted for it; I voted for 99 
per cent of the things that were put to me and I 

spent a vast amount of my time trying to artic-
ulate in understandable language what we were 
doing – to our own people as well as to people 
out there – and to argue the Liberal Democrats’ 
cause as opposed to the coalition’s message. 
That was a valuable experience in terms of 
reacting to other people’s decisions and trying 
to communicate them in ways that reassured, 
maybe even inspired, the members and gave us 
some chance of getting a distinct message across 
around the country.

JLH: What do you think the party did wrong in coali-
tion? What do you think the Liberal Democrats should 
have done differently? 
TF: I voted for coalition, and I still think that 
was probably the right thing to do by the coun-
try. But I think we were too afraid of our own 
shadow – we were scared of causing an early 
election, that’s why we went for coalition rather 
than something else. We forgot, or weren’t 
aware, how much more terrified of an early 
election David Cameron and George Osborne 
were. Bear in mind that they were supposed 
to be the Blair/Brown partnership who would 
deliver a majority for the Tory party, and they 
snatched defeat from the jaws of victory – 
largely because Nick played a blinder, but also 
because they were complacent. The Liberal 
Democrats going into coalition with the Tories 
saved Cameron’s skin in many ways. If the 
coalition had not been formed, an early elec-
tion may have happened, following a period 
of minority Tory government, and I bet you 
Cameron wouldn’t have been leader – and they 
knew that. We held much more power over 
them than we realised. 

We spent the first two years – and especially 
the first six months – behaving like if anybody 
breathed the word ‘dissent’, somehow the coali-
tion would crack and everything would be all 
over. That was always rubbish, and we should 
have known that it was rubbish. The mood 
music at the beginning was dreadful. We should 

I voted for coali-
tion, and I still 
think that was 
probably the right 
thing to do by 
the country. But I 
think we were too 
afraid of our own 
shadow.
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have learned lessons from Scotland [the Labour 
– Liberal Democrat coalitions of 1999–2007], 
where we never looked like we were the same 
beast as the Labour Party. It was very clear that 
we dragged two things out of Labour. Every 
time something went wrong north of the bor-
der, between 1999 and 2007 everybody would 
go: ‘Ah, yes. But they got us the fees [the aboli-
tion of tuition fees] and free personal care for 
the elderly.’ We had none of that. We didn’t 
think about the PR, apart from thinking that 
if we didn’t look like two peas in a pod then 
somehow the world would end. But even so, as 
the summer recess began in 2010, we were still 
on 17 per cent; it was [tuition] fees that killed 
us. It’s all very well saying, ‘Oh, we got the four 
things on the front page of the manifesto into 
the coalition agreement.’ We have to remember 
not just what we thought we offered the elector-
ate, but what they thought we were offering. 

Throughout the 1990s and 2000s we had 
managed to build – amazingly, actually, and 
Paddy Ashdown, Charles Kennedy and Nick 
need to take huge credit for this – a core vote, 
based upon our position on Iraq and tuition fees 
and one or two other things. But because the 
leadership thought that tuition fees was a com-
mitment we shouldn’t have made, nobody died 
in the ditch – or even tried to put up any kind of 
fight – for it in the coalition negotiations. 

It was always obvious that we would take 
some kind of hit for going into coalition with 
the Tories – after all, the Lib–Lab Pact hap-
pened for eighteen months when I was 7 and 8 
years of age and it was still a reason people cited 
at me for not voting Lib Dem in 2010. So full-
blown coalition with the arch-enemy is likely 
to do you damage whatever you do with them. 
However, I think that tuition fees was the dif-
ference between thirty MPs and eight. 

The other thing, of course, was buying into 
austerity too comprehensively. I could under-
stand turning the tap down on revenue spending, 
but to cut off capital spending right at the begin-
ning, I thought that was wrong in terms of the 
impact on society, and politically it made it look 
like we’d changed sides. And that, if I’m honest 
with you, that’s what motivated me to run for 
president more than anything else. I just thought: 
‘We have to have a voice that sounds like us.’

JLH: Looking further back, you were also the Lib-
eral Democrat equivalent of a Parliamentary Private 
Secretary (PPS) to Menzies Campbell during his 
time as leader. Was that useful preparation for your 
leadership?
TF: Yes it was. I have always massively admired 
Menzies Campbell, and I admired him all the 
more having been close to him as leader; he 
was an incredibly decent man who had a really 

tough and torrid time, utterly unjustifiably, 
during his period as leader. 

He resigned as leader about a week or two 
after Gordon Brown bottled calling an election 
in 2007. I remember coming down to London 
that Monday evening, and Daisy McAndrew 
from ITV running down the corridor saying: 
‘Is it true Menzies’ resigning?’, and I said, ‘I’m 
his PPS – I think I’d know!’ But I didn’t know, 
as half an hour later he resigned and I got a text 
from Archy Kirkwood telling me so. I remem-
ber sitting in the Members’ Tea Room feeling 
slightly bewildered, and in comes Vince Cable 
in his raincoat looking even more bewildered, 
and said, ‘I think I’m leader. I think I’ll need a 
PPS, won’t I? Do you fancy doing it for me?’ 
So I became the acting PPS to the acting leader, 
which is about as low as you can get and still be 
on the ladder. 

The contrast in leadership styles was really 
interesting to see at close hand. Menzies went 
about it thoroughly professionally, spending 
two or three hours preparing for Prime Min-
ister’s Questions every Wednesday. Vince was 
just a one-man band, coming in at 11 o’clock 
[PM’s Questions is at 12 noon] having had a 
long soak in the bath where he had dreamt up a 
question that he ran past me. 

I also became aware of how the leader’s office 
and the party machinery – the party’s HQ – are 
two separate power bases. Chris Rennard was 
still Chief Executive then, and I saw a clear ten-
sion there, which I believed was wrong, a waste 
of energy. So I made a virtue out of a neces-
sity when I became leader, which was to move 
the leader’s office to HQ. You move to HQ and 
you make everybody part of the leader’s team; 
I didn’t make it some exclusive club where I was 
up against the Chief Executive. I’d spend time 
just walking around talking to people in HQ, 
finding out who they were and what they were 
doing. I think it was motivating to people to 
feel that they were part of the leader’s team, not 
just stuck ten minutes away from it. I also think 
Tim Gordon [Liberal Democrat Chief Execu-
tive 2012–17] and I worked really well together,

JLH: Did you want to take the party in any kind of 
different direction, politically?
TF: I eschew all the left–right talk, but I felt 
that the party had – not by design but by drift, 
by being in coalition with the Conserva-
tives, and through the general move to a post-
Thatcher space where market economics are 
taken as the norm and intervention is seen as 
peculiar – I thought that the centre of grav-
ity of the party had moved a little bit too far to 
the right for my liking. I am both a liberal and 
a social democrat, and I thought that we were 
pretty good on the liberal side but that we had 

Tim Farron as party leader

It’s all very well 
saying, ‘Oh, we 
got the four 
things on the 
front page of 
the manifesto 
into the coalition 
agreement.’ We 
have to remem-
ber not just what 
we thought we 
offered the elec-
torate, but what 
they thought we 
were offering.



Journal of Liberal History 100  Autumn 2018  9 

just lost touch with the social democrat side a 
bit. So, yes, without wanting to do anything 
massively dramatic, I wanted us to be a party 
that thinks that government can be part of the 
solution rather than part of the problem.

JLH: So more at the social liberal end of the spectrum?
TF: I don’t think being a social liberal is at odds 
with being an economic liberal. But an ambi-
tious liberal government that creates more free-
dom via a degree of intervention is thoroughly 
consistent with liberal philosophy and liberal 
history and tradition. In reality, small govern-
ment actually means weak citizens. There is a 
difference between big in-your-face govern-
ment stamping all over your civil liberties and 
government that is active in creating strong 
public services and which redistributes. 

I have always thought that the Adam Smith 
notion of the invisible hand in the marketplace 
is just not true. There is an invisible force in 
the marketplace and it is gravity – more comes 
to those with plenty to start off with – and so 
a real liberal wants to break that up, referee it, 
redistribute it. I thought the party needed to 
move a little bit more in that direction. I also 
thought that most of the members probably 
thought that too, and would feel more comfort-
able in that kind of party.

JLH: So basically your aims were to rescue the party 
from catastrophe and move it in a more social-liberal, 
leftward direction. To what extent do you think you 
achieved either of those things?
TF: Well I think the former, we’ve 100,000 
members and we’re moving forward. The 
day after I became leader, I think The Times 
declared that: ‘The party that began with Glad-
stone will end with Farron’. We must never 
forget that that was absolutely a possibility, it 
might have happened. 

We stabilised the party, found a cause, dou-
bled in size. We aimed to help members pick 
a ward and win it, to give people the sense 
that look, you may have no MP or councillors 

whatsoever, but you can win somewhere – giv-
ing people a bit of self-belief, making cam-
paigning a thing that wasn’t an afterthought to 
a very Westminster-focused leadership but the 
life and soul of someone who was a born cam-
paigner himself. I think we achieved that. 

In terms of a leftward shift, we didn’t really 
have much time. But I fought very hard, and 
successfully in the end, for us to commit to the 
additional penny on income tax for the NHS. 
If we had had more time, we’d have developed 
that more. Simply by virtue of being outside 
coalition and in opposition to the Conserva-
tives, that move started by itself, without too 
much help from me.

JLH: Most leaders, at some time or another, have had 
problems with their parliamentary party. Did that 
happen to you as well?
TF: The main issue was when we took the deci-
sion to take an unashamedly pro-European 
position in the early hours following the Brexit 
referendum, including arguing for a referen-
dum on the final deal – which not all of my 
colleagues agreed with. It was a massive politi-
cal gamble. You could argue it nearly cost me 
my seat, because I think there was a large per-
centage of people who, however they’d voted, 
thought, ‘Oh, enough whining already.’ But 
I’d also argue that it’s what saved the party – it’s 
what doubled us in size, it’s what won us Rich-
mond Park [by-election in 2016], and it’s what 
gave us any kind of clear message. The main 
enemy that we were fighting, post-2015, was 
irrelevance. Our biggest challenge in the 2017 
election, and even now, probably, is a result of 
that election: we got so battered in 2015 that 
it doesn’t matter how right you are – if you 
are not big enough to be credible, it becomes 
almost pointless. Much as I disagree with 
Labour’s humming and hawing over Europe, 
when you’re on 40 per cent you can afford 
nuance; when you’re on 8 per cent, you can’t. 

We planned this – myself, Tim Gordon, my 
own staff, Alistair Carmichael [Chief Whip in 

Tim Farron as party leader

Farron and 
supporters on the 
march for Europe, 
London, 2 July 2016
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the Commons], Dick Newby [then Chief Whip 
in the Lords] – about a week or two before ref-
erendum day. I did something David Cam-
eron never did – I planned for what happens if 
you lose. We spent two or three hours discuss-
ing it, and it became very clear that we had to 
come out and be unashamedly pro-Europe, (a) 
because we believed it and (b) because we were 
going to bleed into complete irrelevance if we 
didn’t. We chose to be ‘Marmite’; and the thing 
about Marmite is that some people love it, and 
some people really hate it. And some of my col-
leagues really hated it.

JLH: What are you most proud of achieving in your 
time as leader?
TF: Probably the fact that the party member-
ship is the biggest that it has ever been. And that 
wasn’t an accident. People don’t join dying par-
ties, and we were a dying party. So I think that 
is probably it – that we’ve grown and survived. 
It would have been nice to have gone on to fur-
ther steps, but the first was live and grow, and 
we did more than that. Every party leader has 
promised that they would double the party’s 
membership, or add an extra 40,000, or some-
thing like that. Well, I did that; nobody else did 
– helped by calamitous circumstances; but you 
don’t automatically pick up 50,000 members 
unless you make key choices, which we did. 

JLH: What did you find most challenging?
TF: Being a constituency MP. I won my seat in 
a very peculiar, very personal way – even by 
Lib Dem standards! I had a wonderful team, I’m 
not saying it was only down to me; but I loved 
Westmorland and Lonsdale to death, and I had 
a level of presence in my community that other 
people, even my great colleagues, didn’t have. I 
found that maintaining that presence, and com-
bining it with being a dad and a husband, really 
hard. The way I dealt with it was just by work-
ing stupidly hard. I would be up north an awful 
lot, but every second would be diarised. I think 
in terms of the balance of life, that was the real 
challenge. 

JLH: Is that why your majority fell in 2017?
TF: I think so, partly. I also think that there 
was a perception that: ‘Oh, he’s the leader now. 
He’s left us.’ Which was never true, but percep-
tions are everything. And I also think, to put it 
bluntly, the position that we took on Brexit was 
always going to cut down the middle. On top 
of that was the level of Tory spending. I think 
I am right in saying that in 2017 Westmorland 
and Lonsdale Tories held the record for the 
largest amount of money spent in one constitu-
ency without winning. I guess they thought it 
was worth the effort of chucking the kitchen 

sink at us to decapitate the Lib Dem leader. But 
the Brexit position was the key thing that gave 
them the way in. 

JLH: What were you most disappointed by in your 
time as leader?
TF: That I didn’t get to complete all the pro-
jects we had started. I’m not somebody who 
thought: ‘Oh, I must do this for ten years.’ 
But there is a load more that I know I could 
have done, in terms of building our brand. 
The next project would have been building a 
well-funded centre, linked to the party, which 
would have been about wooing opinion-form-
ers in society, in big business, in the media; hav-
ing a credible economic plan that made it very 
clear that there was something other than mad 
English nationalism and Trotskyism on the 
agenda. 

I thought credibility was key. Some of this 
is about being in the media, or winning elec-
tions, but some of it is about gaining credibility 
with people who have got the resources to help 
you. We were very close to that, and that would 
have been a big, seven-figure project that would 
have brought some very big people onside, 
some people from outside the party. That was 
on the cusp of happening when the election was 
called. I would have liked to have seen that pro-
ject completed. 

JLH: Do you think the party could have fought the 
2017 election campaign better? 
TF: In many ways we fought it well: I think 
we had a national message that gave us distinc-
tiveness, though clearly it was a disadvantage 
in many of the areas where we had been strong 
beforehand. And there were some areas where it 
could have worked more in our favour. So per-
haps we should have been scoping out other tar-
get seats, as we did in places like St Albans. But 
that would have meant dropping seats where 
we had been only a few hundred or thousand 
behind in 2015. 

It helped that we had prepared for the snap 
election in autumn 2016 that didn’t happen; 
we had the manifesto pretty much in the bag. I 
think the thing that really would have helped 
us in the 2017 election was not being so badly 
hammered in 2015 – that was 95 per cent of our 
problem.

JLH: Perhaps it didn’t help that the election never got 
into the details of Brexit?
TF: The election was about Brexit, in the 
sense that people who had voted Leave had no 
sympathy with people who were still whin-
ing about Europe, and people who had voted 
Remain felt it wasn’t cricket to whine about 
Europe. So, yes, if the election had been now 
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[June 2018], or in the autumn, then it might 
have been a very different kettle of fish. 

In the end, it became about leadership. I 
guess our problem – my problem – was that I 
was the first Liberal or Lib Dem leader not even 
to be the leader of the third party. Our ability 
to get our message across was really limited, 
and the election became more obviously Labour 
v. Tory. 

After the local elections it looked like The-
resa May had played a master stroke; I thought 
she was going to win by 100 plus. It was really 
only as we got into the middle of May that 
I began to think, with the dementia tax and 
things like that, that she hadn’t planned it; she 
was making schoolboy errors. But the combi-
nation of that very commanding result for the 
Tories in the local elections and us not perform-
ing – our vote went up by 7 per cent, but the 
Tory vote went up by so much more because of 
the UKIP collapse – and the effect of the ‘strong 
and stable’ message, which was working in the 
first week of May, meant that we were over-
come. We didn’t get the bounce we thought we 
were going to get from the locals. 

And, perversely, because it looked like 
Labour were a million miles from power, there 
wasn’t really any need to vote for Theresa May 
to keep out that dangerous loony Corbyn. Also, 
the messaging the Tories used about Corbyn, 
that they’d always assumed from day one would 
work, didn’t. He’s a unilateralist, he may have 
been sympathetic to the Soviet Union, he’d 
been with the IRA, all these kinds of things – 
you’ve got to be over 40 to even know about 
that stuff. And even if you do know about it, 
their message sounded like your grumpy old 
granddad telling you what you shouldn’t do – 
which, obviously, you did. It wasn’t just young 
people who thought, ‘Oh, he’s harmless and 
she’s going to win anyway’; I think that was felt 
across the country. 

In many ways, the major problem with the 
Tory campaign, apart from their lack of prepa-
ration, was that it was too long a campaign. She 
should have looked at the local elections and 
gone the week after for a three or four-week 
campaign instead.

JLH: Do you think the Lib Dems would have done 
better in the 2017 local elections if the general election 
hadn’t been called by then?
TF: I am 100 per cent certain. I also think that 
there was a fighting chance we’d have won the 
Manchester Gorton by-election. Our canvassing 
in Gorton was as good at that stage as it had been 
in Richmond at the same point. Poor Jackie 
Piercey – she could have been our tenth MP. 

I also think that Labour were going to get 
hammered in those local elections. People like 

Owen Jones were beginning to be critical of 
Corbyn at that point because he was perform-
ing so poorly, and they had lost the Copeland 
bye-election [in February 2017]. I think Theresa 
May perhaps thought, ‘This is your moment. If 
you are not careful, Corbyn will be sacked by 
the summer. You’ve got to grab your moment 
to fight him.’ I’m certain we would have made 
quite big gains, probably into three figures in 
the locals, certainly above fifty, if we’d not had 
the general election called beforehand.

JLH: When did you decide to resign the leadership?
TF: After the first week or two of the cam-
paign, when all I was getting were ques-
tions which related to my faith, I thought that 
this was not sustainable; it wasn’t fair on the 
party. But I then pigeonholed that and didn’t 
really tell anybody. Once the election result 
was announced, I certainly had no immediate 
intention of resigning, not least because we’d 
done all right. If you compare our result to the 
expectations, after Labour we did the next best. 
The Tories did worse than the expectations; 
UKIP did a lot worse; the Greens didn’t achieve 
anything; the SNP went backwards; Labour 
did much better than expected; we made four 
gains [net] and were within a total of 400 votes 
of another four. It wasn’t a nine out of ten result 
for us, but it was certainly a seven out of ten. 

So I didn’t even countenance stepping down 
in the day or two following the election, not 
least because I didn’t want the message to be 
that we hadn’t done so well. But I reached the 
conclusion that if all I was going to do was get 
these questions about my faith, I would either 
have to compromise my faith in a way which 
wouldn’t be right, just to make them all go 
away, or I would – to put it bluntly – be a bad 
leader. I was the main mouthpiece for the party, 
and if all they were asking me was stuff to do 
with my faith, then our message wasn’t going to 
be heard. So I either compromised my faith or, 
frankly, did the party a disservice; but I didn’t 
want to do either of those things, really. 

I remember probably about a week after 
the election, I had just been sworn in as an 
MP again, I’d had a really nice conversation 
with Tim Gordon about what we were going 
to do next and I thought: ‘This is not fair. If 
I’m thinking like this, then I ought to go now 
rather than leave it to the Queen’s Speech, or 
the summer’, which I had been thinking of. 
There was a balanced Parliament, there could 
have been another election in October. So I 
made the judgement the following day that 
it was best to do it straight away. I was in the 
queue to swear in again, talking to lots of 
Labour MPs with swollen majorities who were 
surprised to be back at all, and I just thought: ‘I 
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need to do this now.’ It was sad, but I felt it was 
the right thing.

JLH: It seemed very sudden, because you’d just called 
an election for deputy leader, and then you announced 
your resignation on the day after the Grenfell fire 
disaster. So it wasn’t ideal, was it?
TF: It wasn’t. But in the end I just took the view 
that leaving it over another weekend would just 
get people talking, and so I thought I needed to 
do it then. It was not ideal timing, but it never 
is; if I’d left it another day or two it might have 
got out of hand.

JLH: There were stories about deputations of peers 
and others coming to see you to ask you to step down. 
Did that happen?
TF: Not really. I think there were a number of 
people who had not approved of the position 
that I had taken keeping Chris Rennard out of 
office – which was never anything personal, 
I just thought it was the right thing for the 
party – so there was a sense in which they felt 
that I shouldn’t continue. But I took the view 
that after any election there is always a bit of 
grumbling, and if I wanted to stay on as leader, 
then I would, and I would see people off – I’m 
good at a scrap. I had conversations with vari-
ous people – I had a good conversation with 
Dick Newby [then Leader of the Liberal Dem-
ocrat peers] and I had a really lovely chat with 
Jo Swinson, who urged me to continue and for 
which I was very grateful – but, in the end it 
was my decision. 

I also thought that if there did end up being 
tittle tattle in the days ahead, then it would look 
like I was reacting to that. I didn’t want to do 
that, I wanted to make sure that people were 
very clear that: a) we’d had a good election 
result and we should be pleased with ourselves; 
and b) me stepping down was for the reasons 
that I gave, which it really was. In this world, 
in this business, my experience tells me if you 
leave something twenty-four hours, you’ve lost 
control of it.

JLH: Did Brian Paddick’s resignation as Home 
Affairs spokesman have any impact?
TF: No, not at all. I had a lovely chat with him, 
actually. I’ve always thought he has been one 
of the most understanding people and got how 
my head worked better than most people. He 
was clear that he was not going to continue; but 
I still have a very good relationship with Brian 
and he is a lovely man and a very kind man.

JLH: Do you think you could have handled the ques-
tions about your faith better during the campaign?
TF: The tricky thing is, when you are asked 
a question about anything about sin … what 

Christians mean by sin is 100 per cent different 
to what the rest of the world thinks. The only 
person whose ‘sins’ I am responsible for is me; 
and the commandment I find easiest to abide by 
is to not judge others. But how can you answer 
a question asked in one language from another 
language? Maybe it would have been better to 
say: ‘This is a completely different linguistic 
framework you are using and whatever I say, 
whichever answer I give you, it will be under-
stood completely wrongly and therefore we are 
just not going there.’ But could I have held the 
line? It is amazing how David Cameron man-
aged to not talk about things he may nor may 
not have done at university during all the time 
he was prime minister and leader. Would I 
have been capable of having that discipline, and 
would they have left me alone? I don’t know. I 
do think that undoubtedly I bear responsibil-
ity for that. But I also think the tricky thing is 
– and this is why the media loved picking at this 
– was that you are talking about two different 
languages.

JLH: Speaking as an atheist, I think of sin as some-
thing that’s bad and should be stopped, so if someone 
describes something as sinful it means that they think it 
should not happen. 
TF: That’s exactly what I’m getting at. That 
is how it is seen in the non-Christian world, 
and, indeed, to some extent even by some peo-
ple who profess a faith. Whereas to us it talks 
about our relationship with God – it is very 
specific, and specific to us, and carries a totally 
different meaning. And so it just gets heard 
wrong – which is why journalists want you to 
talk about it.

JLH: Do you think, in an ideal world, that it would 
have been possible to find a way to deal with those 
questions? Or was it just not possible at all?
TF: Well, one of the ways I dealt with it – and it 
was the most successful way, I guess, but still, it 
wasn’t right – was to say that it is a private mat-
ter; faith is private. But it isn’t. You shouldn’t 
impose your faith on other people, but nobody 
else leaves their world view at the door, 
whether it comes from a formal faith, Muslim, 
or Hindu, or Christian, or whether it’s from 
reading Karl Marx or John Stuart Mill or what-
ever. I think that in an ideal world, in a more 
liberal world, then we’d accept that ‘people of 
faith’ isn’t just a cultural expression. I think we 
tolerate faith where it’s cultural, historical, or 
family-related – ‘I’m from mid-Wales, therefore 
I go to the chapel’, or what have you – but the 
minute that it practically affects your personal 
choices, we seem to be not OK with that. In an 
ideal world, we would understand that some 
people believe in God, and get over it. 
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JLH: Were the questions about your faith a surprise?
TF: Not entirely. I kind of knew it would come 
back, though everybody around me, I think, 
just hoped it wouldn’t. Could I have prepared 
more? I don’t know. I could have done some-
thing, I’m sure. Look, the reality is that the 
buck stops with me, and I could have dealt with 
some of those things more wisely.

JLH: Do you think it is possible for someone with 
strong religious views to be the leader of the Liberal 
Democrats?
TF: Well, I was! I think if they can’t be leader of 
a liberal party, then I don’t know who else they 
could lead. The whole notion of being a lib-
eral is to defend different world views. There’s 
a danger in Western society that we begin to 
think that we all have to accept the same world 
view. That’s dangerous; that’s bordering on the 
authoritarian. So just as we are the party that 
ought to be most likely to elect a leader from 
any other kind of minority background, we 
ought to be the most likely to elect people with 
a firm religious background, or the opposite. 

I guess part of my challenge to people of 
faith is that government and politics will hap-
pen whether you are involved with it or not, 
and growing authoritarianism across the West-
ern world is a threat to all minority groups – to 
all, as Mill would have put it, eccentric life-
styles and ways of thinking, things that are off-
centre and not majority pursuits. So whatever 
minority you belong to – if you are a person 
of faith, whatever faith you belong to – you 
should crave liberalism; we should be the party 
and the movement for you.

JLH: What do you think are the characteristics of an 
ideal Lib Dem leader?
TF: Endurance: you’ve got to be able to just 
keep going. An ability to understand that the 
world owes you nothing and you’ve got to 
make your own luck. I think you’ve got to have 
a good sense of humour and realise that you are 
the butt of people’s jokes just because of who 
you are and the party you lead. 

I think also you have to be, not a micro-man-
ager, but you have to understand that you have to 
try to turn round an organisation that is small and 
under-funded and make it massively more than 
the sum of its parts; and the fuel for that is inspira-
tion and self-belief. So your message to the party 
is at least as important as your message to the pub-
lic, because if you can’t inspire your troops, then 
who is going to inspire the people out there? But 
you also have to understand that management 
and structure is really important, doing things 
professionally in an organised way, that you need 
to have a plan and you need to be able to decide 
that you are not going to try to do everything.

JLH: Do you think that the leader needs a clear plan 
and a clear vision for the direction in which you want 
to lead the party? Or is it more about simply reacting to 
circumstances?
TF: I think you need to be aware that when 
you are the third or fourth or fifth party, you 
are going to make less news on your own than 
you would like. Our mantra was, when it 
came to news events of any kind on any given 
day: ‘first, original, funny’, or ‘first, different, 
funny’, and if you can’t be one of those three, 
don’t bother. So even your reactiveness needs 
to be planned. 

What did we want to achieve? We wanted 
to be a party that was clearly of the centre-left 
and that was pro-Europe. Given that we had 
been so badly hammered in 2015, we under-
stood that the job was to establish credibility on 
a national level in two ways: being remembered 
for one thing – which ended up being Europe – 
and building up from the grassroots, which we 
partly did through our position on Europe; that 
run of local council by-elections we had [after 
the Brexit referendum] was the best we’d had 
since the early ’90s. 

So you needed to have a very clear vision, 
which was to try and pull out our distinctive-
ness, to not be so bogged down with our expe-
rience of government that we forgot how to be 
spiky, guerrilla-like and campaigning. So there 
was a quite clear vision of what we were trying 
to do: to have cut-through on domestic issues; 
to recognise that that was going to be hard, so 
we had to have a strategy for reacting; to build 
up at the grassroots; to re-energise the local 
government base and to build on it; and then 
to take a very spiky, Marmite-ish, and I think 
party-saving, position on Europe.

JLH: How would you like your time as leader to be 
remembered?
TF: I have often said that I don’t care! I remem-
ber being here [in Parliament] in my first fort-
night in 2005, and you get lost in this place, so 
I joined a tour for the Catholic primary school 
in Kendal. We got to the Peers’ Lobby and I 
noticed Geoffrey Howe shambling in, and I 
was slightly starstruck – he was the Chancel-
lor of the Exchequer when I was a kid. This 
eleven-year-old girl at the back could see who 
I was looking at, and she said, ‘Who’s he?’ So I 
said, ‘That’s Geoffrey Howe. He brought down 
Margaret Thatcher’, and she said, ‘Who’s Mar-
garet Thatcher?’ Which told me that if you seek 
to be remembered, it’s in vain! 

Insofar as it matters, I’d like to be remem-
bered for stopping the party from evaporating, 
giving it a purpose and making it stand out at a 
point where it would have been much easier for 
it to have disappeared. 
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7 December 1916: Asquith, Lloyd George and the Crisis of Liberalism
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7 December 1916: Asquith, Lloyd George and the Crisis of Liberalism

A hundred years ago today, minus 
one hour, David Lloyd George kissed 
hands as prime minister. The follow-

ing evening, 8 December, Asquith convened a 
large gathering of Liberals, members of parlia-
ment and peers, at the Reform Club. This meet-
ing confirmed his leadership by acclamation. 
But it also confirmed the death of a great party 
twenty-four hours earlier. The attendance there 
was politically a mixed one. There were stout 
allies and admirers of Asquith but also critics 
like Winston Churchill. Christopher Addison, 
a non-attender and supporter of Lloyd George 
noted in his diary that there was ‘A pretty con-
siderable stampede on to LG’s side’.1 Why did all 
these momentous events happen? At the Reform 
Club, Asquith had no doubt. He spoke of there 
having been ‘a well-organised conspiracy’. In 
his remarkable eulogy on Lloyd George in the 
Commons in March 1945, Winston Churchill 
spoke of Lloyd George ‘seizing’ power, which 
startled some MPs. But he also quoted Thomas 
Carlyle on Oliver Cromwell  – ‘he coveted the 
place. Perhaps the place was his’.2

Until the late 1960s, blame for the Lib-
eral schism was placed firmly on David Lloyd 
George. He was the Welsh Cain who slew the 
English Abel. He was also incidentally attacked 
for the irregularity or immorality of his private 
life, though this accusation tended to fade away 
after the revelations came of Asquith’s intimate 
relationship with a very young woman, Vene-
tia Stanley, to whom he revealed secrets about 
war strategy and other matters. Much of the 
writing about 1916 came from pro-Asquithi-
ans who condemned the little Welsh attorney 
from a rural shoemaker’s cottage, who con-
spired against his leader, allied with the Tory 
enemy, took cash for peerages and inspired uni-
versal distrust. Almost the last of these works 
was Roy Jenkins’s biography Asquith (1964), the 
work of a fellow Balliol man, who portrayed 
his subject as the ‘noblest Roman’ laid low by 
an envious Casca from Criccieth.

The battle for reputations went on after their 
deaths. The two men did not produce espe-
cially revelatory memoirs unlike the leaders of 
New Labour. Asquith’s memoirs are guarded 
about Lloyd George. The latter’s War Memoirs 
talk of Asquith being tired and lethargic dur-
ing the war years but are far from consistently 
critical. More forceful combatants were the two 
daughters, Lady Violet Bonham-Carter and 
Lady Megan Lloyd George; Lady Violet greatly 
admired Churchill and in 1951 contemplated 
an electoral pact with the Conservatives. Lady 
Megan joined Labour and sat for Carmarthen. 
The Reform Club had been very hostile to the 
Welshman over the years. But now the National 
Liberal Club has a Lloyd George Room, 
adorned by Christopher Williams’s portrait of 
the great man, while the Reform Club itself has 
a bust of Lloyd George, presented by the sculp-
tor, in the Smoking Room of the very epicentre 
of Asquithianism. Perhaps in this great conflict 
we have reached an armistice at last.

Since the Beaverbrook Library, housing the 
Lloyd George, Bonar Law and Beaverbrook 
Papers opened in 1967, the balance of historical 
judgement has turned strongly towards Lloyd 
George – in the work of Alan Taylor, John 
Grigg, and perhaps myself – emphasising his 
radicalism, and charismatic inspiration as leader 
in war and peace. Now he has his statue in Par-
liament Square, close to that of another great 
world war leader. He is the only non-Conserv-
ative represented there. And yet Lloyd George’s 
was put up a full seventy years after that of 
Clemenceau, père de la victoire, in the Champs-
Elysées in Paris. In Britain, in the official com-
memoration of the centenary of the First World 
War, Lloyd George has so far been a conspicu-
ous absentee. This is partly because of what 
we are discussing this evening. The crisis of 7 
December 1916 is still very much alive. 

Asquith and Lloyd George came from very 
different wings of the Liberal party. Asquith, 
the older by eleven years, was the son of a 
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minor employer in the Yorkshire woollen 
industry. He won a classics scholarship to Bal-
liol and took a first in Greats (classics). He had a 
successful career at the bar (including prosecut-
ing the publishers of a famous novel by Emile 
Zola), he won a safe Liberal seat in East Fife, he 
immediately impressed in the Commons and 
became home secretary in Gladstone’s gov-
ernment in 1892. He was, or had become, the 
supreme insider.

Lloyd George was always the supreme out-
sider. Like James Callaghan and John Major, 
he had to do it the hard way – an unprivileged 
background in a shoemaker’s cottage in Welsh-
speaking north Wales, education in a tiny vil-
lage school in Llanystumdwy near Criccieth, 
his religion Campbellite Baptist (a fringe radical 
wing within the wider Baptist community) and 
there was no question of his being able to go to 
university. He made his way as a local solici-
tor and used this as a local base to attack the 
ascendancy, Anglicised landowners and clergy. 
His boyhood hero was Abraham Lincoln – not 
the great emancipator but the great democrat. 
His admirers made much of the log cabin to 
president mystique, in books with titles such as 
Village Green to Downing Street.3 In 1890 he won 
Caernarfon Boroughs, a Liberal gain, by just 
eighteen votes at the age of 27, after a radical 
campaign. It has been claimed that twenty-four 
voters, all lifeboatmen from Pwllheli in his new 
constituency and all Conservatives, were work-
ing out at sea and thus unable to vote. Even in 
this early phase, Lloyd George had Napoleon’s 
cherished quality of being a lucky general.

From the start, Asquith exuded effortless 
superiority and patrician self-control in parlia-
ment. He was a success as home secretary under 
Gladstone and Rosebery in 1892–5 – work-
ing with other imperially minded Liberals 
like Grey and Haldane. The coming man had 
definitely arrived. An early widower, he mar-
ried the glamorous socialite Margot Tennant, 
a wealthy, snobbish woman who relished high 
society. Lloyd George, a relatively poor man, 
married the unassuming daughter of a local 
Caemarfonshire farmer (a woman who disliked 
city life and loved le Pays de Galles profond). Mar-
got patronised her as a ‘homely little woman’. 
Asquith went straight into Cabinet in 1892. 
Lloyd George, by contrast, was from the first a 
freelance backbencher and a rebel. He admired 
the radical Joseph Chamberlain. Gladstone, 
however, he thought was hostile to the causes 
of workers and nonconformists, and basically a 
Tory at heart.

The first contact between the two men was 
not a happy experience. In May–June 1895, the 
government majority had almost disappeared. 
Lloyd George then led a small group of four 

Cymru Fydd (Young Wales) Liberals in opposi-
tion to the government during the committee 
stage of the Welsh Disestablishment Bill. He 
then moved an amendment to set up a Welsh 
national council to administer the funds of the 
disendowed Church in Wales. This failed nar-
rowly by ten votes. Soon afterwards, on 20 
June, on a similar amendment, the government 
majority fell to only two. The next day the 
Rosebery government was defeated by seven 
votes on a different and trivial issue – supplies 
of cordite – and resigned. The Liberals lost the 
subsequent general election, heavily.4

Some in Wales now blamed Lloyd George 
for an act of wilful disloyalty. Asquith rebuked 
Lloyd George’s Welsh colleague, Tom Ellis, the 
Liberal chief whip, for appearing to exoner-
ate him for ‘the underhand and disloyal way’ in 
which he acted. He saw the rebellious member 
for Caernarfon Boroughs as ‘a natural frondeur’.5 
After this, Asquith frequently showed a broad 
dislike of the Welsh in general – Jenkins quotes 
him as describing them as ‘moutons enragés’. On 
another occasion, Asquith declared that ‘I am 
not passionately fond of the Welsh’. In 1924, 
when approached about a Welsh constituency, 
he observed, ‘I would sooner go to hell than 
to Wales’.6 Lloyd George attacked Asquith in 
return – ‘the worst thing he ever did was to join 
the Church of England’. He did so not ‘because 
of principle but because of society’.7

Both men advanced rapidly thereafter – but 
on opposite sides of the party. Asquith, like 
Grey and others was a Liberal imperialist; Lloyd 
George was a ‘little Englander’. Asquith was a 
key figure in Lord Rosebery’s Liberal League, 
an imperialist federalist, very supportive of 
the Boer War in 1899–1902. Lloyd George was 
a passionate pro-Boer who won celebrity by 
fierce personal attacks on Joseph Chamberlain, 
the all-powerful colonial secretary. He worked 
with anti-war radicals in condemning the Brit-
ish concentration camps on the Veldt. It was he 
who introduced the famous campaigner against 
these genocidal camps, Emily Hobhouse, to the 
Liberal leader, Campbell-Bannerman. From 
Emily the latter picked up the powerful phrase 
he applied to British tactics in South Africa – 
‘methods of barbarism’, three little words which 
in due time helped to overthrow the greatest of 
empires.

Both men were prominent in the Liberal 
resurgence in 1902–5, being both active in 
speaking for free trade and other Liberal pri-
orities. Instructive was education and their 
respective approaches in opposing Balfour’s 
Education Act of 1902. Asquith offered a dis-
tinguished forensic dissection of it in the 
Commons and in formal meetings around 
the country. Lloyd George, by contrast, led a 
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nationwide revolt by the Welsh county coun-
cils (all Liberal controlled from 1904 onwards) 
in a populist programme of organised passive 
resistance towards the Act and of denying funds 
to National schools – a policy of civil disobedi-
ence that was clearly illegal. When the Liber-
als returned to office in December 1905, there 
was a revealing episode involving Asquith. The 
Liberal imperialists had made a private compact 
that they would all refuse office and ask Camp-
bell-Bannerman to stand down from his seat in 
the Commons and retire to the Lords. But when 
offered the chancellorship, Asquith promptly 
broke his word and accepted the offer of this 
prestigious new post. He was an intensely ambi-
tious man, even though in this instance he acted 
somewhat similarly towards Campbell-Banner-
man as Lloyd George, Bonar Law and Carson 
were to do in December 1916, which he was to 
characterise as a conspiracy. Lloyd George now. 
took office at the Board of Trade in Campbell-
Bannerman’s new government. Both shone 
in office. Asquith proved to be a surprisingly 
radical chancellor, Lloyd George an adventur-
ous president of the Board of Trade, casual in 
his attitude towards the Liberal shibboleth of 
free trade. In April 1908 Asquith became prime 
minister; Lloyd George followed him at the 
Treasury.

For the next seven and a half years, theirs 
was a tremendous partnership – far more har-
monious than, for example, Tony Blair and 
Gordon Brown after 1997. ‘Puffin’, Asquith’s 
son, and Megan Lloyd George, played together 
happily as children in the garden of No. 10 
Downing Street. The two ministers collabo-
rated closely from the start with the launch-
ing of Old Age Pensions when Lloyd George 
took over Asquith’s proposals. Asquith had in 
fact seriously underestimated the cost of pen-
sions, which amounted to almost £8.5m, and 
Lloyd George then added to the cost as the 
Finance Bill went through committee. To help 
pay for this, Lloyd George’s ‘People’s Budget’ 
of April 1909 included radical proposals on 
direct taxation, new land duties, including on 
the ‘unearned increment’, and welfare reforms 
such as children’s allowances. It was the new 
progressive increases in income tax and the 
new ‘super-tax’ on higher incomes that made 
the difference financially rather than the land 
duties, which were generally unproductive. 
The budget was resisted in Cabinet by con-
servative ministers such as Reginald McK-
enna, Walter Runciman and ‘Lulu’ Harcourt. 
Haldane crudely (and quite wrongly) claimed 
that Lloyd George did not understand his own 
budget. But Asquith was always strongly sup-
portive. He saw clearly that it seized the politi-
cal initiative from the Unionist tariff reformers. 

It provided a free trade answer to the need to 
pay for social reform (‘the rich will pay’) and 
also offered a new radical response to the chal-
lenge of Labour for working class votes. For 
Asquith was an intellectual but also a strongly 
partisan intellectual who despised the Tories 
and was certain that there was no more appro-
priate prime minister to run the country than 
himself. He helped steer the People’s Budget 
through Cabinet with the ineffable words, ‘I 
think there is substantial agreement on this 
point’, the emollient formula of vice-chancel-
lors down the ages. 

The Parliament Act of 1911, clipping the 
powers of the House of Lords, was Asquith’s 
triumph as the People’s Budget was Lloyd 
George’s. Prime minister and chancellor were 
in agreement on all key points of policy and 
strategy, even if Asquith had to get Lloyd 
George to tone down some of his more aggres-
sive personal attacks on dukes. They were very 
close as political comrades in the struggle. But 
they were very different types of men, and not 
close personally (Margot’s snobbish instincts 
emerged after she invited the Lloyd Georges 
around for dinner). Lloyd George did not share 
Asquith’s enthusiasm for bridge, while the latter 
had only languid fondness for either of Lloyd 
George’s interests – the golf course or the sing-
ing of Welsh hymns. Asquith became increas-
ingly addicted to brandy while Lloyd George 
was, for public purposes at least, a teetotal-
ler. But each recognised the other’s remark-
able qualities. The events of 1909 and 1911 were 
a joint triumph. Asquith was also to back up 
Lloyd George on his various other enterprises 
in 1911–14 – National Health insurance, the 
land campaigns, collective bargaining with 
organised labour, negotiations over Irish home 
rule, and growing pressure to revive the gov-
ernment’s fortunes with more radical policies 
including a possible form of national health ser-
vice, based on the health insurance panels which 
Lloyd George and Addison were to discuss in 
the summer of 1914.

The supreme test of their partnership came 
in 1912 with the famous Marconi case. Lloyd 
George took a great risk in buying shares from 
the American Marconi company, when the 
government of which he was a member was 
negotiating a contract with the linked Brit-
ish Marconi company. He had committed a 
technical, but serious, offence as a minister of 
the Crown, even if he lost money in the trans-
action as he often did. If he wished, Asquith 
could have got rid of him. But his approach 
was predictably partisan. He knew Lloyd 
George, unpredictable though he might be, 
was the government’s greatest asset. He had 
charisma and energy like no other member of 
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the administration. So Asquith brushed aside 
any idea that Lloyd George and his associate 
Sir Rufus Isaacs (through whom Lloyd George 
had actually bought the Marconi shares) should 
resign. Asquith urged instead that they should 
face it out and strive to avoid giving ‘undue 
detail’ even though he took some private pleas-
ure from the discomfiture of his chancellor 
– the idol was left ‘a bit clipped’ he observed.8 
But Asquith could walk the low road of poli-
tics as well as the high. Liberal England, run 
by tough-minded survivors from Balliol and 
Brynhyfryd, won the day.

There were no problems between the two 
when war broke out in August 1914. After 
a few weeks of uncertainty, Lloyd George 
declared his strong backing for the war in a 
great speech at the Queen’s Hall on 19 Septem-
ber. Before a large audience of London Welsh-
men, he declared it to be a war waged to defend 
Liberal principles, for the defence of ‘the little 
five-foot-five nations’, gallant little Serbia and 
Montenegro, gallant little Belgium (and per-
haps by extension gallant little Wales).9 In Cabi-
net debates on war strategy in early 1915, Lloyd 
George took a vigorous part but was not in 
any way manoeuvring against Asquith. When 
the Liberal government came to an abrupt end 
in May 1915, being replaced by a coalition still 
under Asquith’s leadership, the main cause of 
instability was Churchill not Lloyd George. 
Asquith then re-formed his government quite 
ruthlessly (he cheerfully sacrificed Haldane, 
‘old Schopenhauer’, ditched for the spuri-
ous reason that he had an interest in German 
Hegelian philosophy). All the key offices were 
retained by Liberals, even ministers with talents 
as limited as Walter Runciman and Augustine 
Birrell. Throughout the crisis, Lloyd George 
was totally supportive of his leader and this was 
recognised.by the Asquith family.

Margot Asquith wrote that ‘Ll.G. has come 
grandly out of all this; he has the sweetest 
nature in the world.’ She added, perhaps pre-
dictably, ‘He has wonderful charm’.10 Asquith 
thanked him personally for ‘your devotion, 
your unselfishness, your powers of resource… 
your self-forgetfulnenss. They give the drab-
ness of politics a lightning streak of nobility.’11 
It was a very emotional letter, and marked the 
high point of their long relationship.

The great crisis then began in the late sum-
mer of 1915 over the issue of military conscrip-
tion to replace the current system of voluntary 
recruitment to the armed forces. Asquith dis-
liked it as a threat to civil liberties and the free 
choice and movement of citizens. His close col-
league, Sir John Simon, the home secretary, 
resigned from the government in protest. Lloyd 
George, however, strongly supported it, as did 

most of the Conservatives. For him it was a lit-
mus test of how committed the country was 
to total war. His reputation had been greatly 
enhanced now by his commanding role as min-
ister of munitions, in effect taking the manu-
facture of shells, guns and the new tanks into 
national control. He was also now identified as 
the major spokesman of the aggressive policy of 
‘the knock-out blow’. His friend George Rid-
dell, owner of the News of the World, noted how 
he was now breaking with his old party. The 
old radical had completely changed. ‘It looks 
as if he is going the same road as Chamberlain. 
L.G.’s attitude to the war makes his severance 
from the Radicals inevitable.’12 After prolonged 
and bitter argument in Cabinet, eventually 
in April 1916 conscription was adopted for all 
men between 18 and 45, with exceptions for 
men working in reserved occupations at home 
such as miners. Here lay the seeds of profound 
future division. It was in April, not December 
1916, that the roots of the great split in the Lib-
eral Party really lay. Ministers like McKenna 
and Runciman supported Asquith in his res-
ervations. Conversely, a backbench group, the 
Liberal War Committee, led by Sir Frederick 
Cawley and also including Sir Alfred Mond and 
Freddie Guest declared its strong support for 
conscription. In effect it was potentially a pro-
Lloyd George group. More important, Chris-
topher Addison, Lloyd George’s staunch ally 
and his deputy at the Ministry of Munitions, 
drew up with F. G. Kellaway and David Davies, 
two important backbenchers, an unofficial list 
of over 100 Liberal MPs who would back Lloyd 
George if a governmental crisis were to occur. 
Addison, a distinguished medical man, had 
been close to him since the passage of National 
Insurance in 1911. A. J. P. Tay|or, with some 
exaggeration perhaps, has even called him 
the kingmaker, ‘the true maker of the Lloyd 
George government.’13

The course of war now got steadily worse. 
There followed the slaughter on the Somme, 
the hard-fought naval battle of Jutland, the 
retreat from the Dardanelles, the failure to 
assist Rumania in the autumn of 1916. Sir 
Maurice Hankey, secretary to the govern-
ment’s War Council, like others increasingly 
blamed Asquith’s listless leadership. His lei-
surely War Council, with its variable member-
ship and failure to reach conclusions or record 
ministerial decisions about high strategy was 
manifestly inadequate. Even in Ireland when 
Lloyd George, asked to intervene by Asquith, 
was unable to get a settlement with the Irish 
Nationalists, blame fell on Asquith, for policies 
that varied from being too dilatory to being too 
ruthless after the Easter rising in Dublin. Lloyd 
George was now extraordinarily vocal as war 
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minister (in which post he had succeeded Kitch-
ener). In a searing speech on 20 December 1915, 
he condemned his own government: ‘Too late 
in moving here. Too late in arriving there. In 
this war the Allied forces have been dogged by 
the mocking spectre of too late’. He produced 
for the Cabinet ‘a most lugubrious and pessi-
mistic’ analysis of the military situation.14 He 
told Hankey in November 1916, ‘We are going 
to lose this war’.

The ultimate crisis occurred at the end 
of November and early December. A prob-
lem here is that we are still heavily dependent 
on the memoirs of Lord Beaverbrook, espe-
cially his Men and Power. He was a remarkably 
knowledgeable observer of the high politics 
of the time, and a participant in them of much 
importance, but his account is a hybrid of 
fact and fiction, notably his attempt to boost 
the role of Bonar Law. The crisis began with 
Maurice Hankey, a civil servant. He pro-
posed a War Committee far smaller and more 
influential and effective than Asquith’s ver-
sion. Lloyd George, the Unionist leader Bonar 
Law, and the influential Unionist backbencher, 
the Irishman Sir Edward Carson then started 
having almost daily private meetings from 
20 November onwards, to a degree convened 
through the newspaper magnate, Max Ait-
ken, owner of the Daily Express. They argued 
that an efficient War Committee should be 
detached from the Cabinet and consist of 
only three members, without portfolio, not 
a dozen or more. As Lloyd George observed, 
drawing on his biblical knowledge, ‘You can-
not govern with a sanhedrin.’ On 1 Decem-
ber. Bonar Law formally proposed to Asquith 
that a War Committee should be set up sepa-
rate from the Cabinet; the prime minister not 
being a member though having the right of 
veto over its decisions. This was the work of a 
‘little gang of brigands’, said Margot Asquith. 
It confirmed her worst fears ever since Lloyd 
George, that ‘ignorant little sneak’ had gone 
to Munitions.15 (15)

There are some important points to be noted 
about these events. First, it was not a conspiracy 
working behind Asquith’s back. He was con-
stantly kept informed in detail about the meet-
ings in which Lloyd George played a central 
part. He was regularly briefed in some – though 
not complete – detail by Bonar Law. Secondly 
and importantly, it was not intended by Lloyd 
George as a blow directed against the prime 
minister. Lloyd George wanted to run the war 
and believed with some reason that he could do 
so better than anyone else. But he did not want 
to become prime minister and take on all the 
responsibility of running the House and nego-
tiating with the political parties. His plan for a 

new War Committee was directed not against 
Asquith but against the generals, notably Sir 
William Robertson. Yet, third, in fact many 
generals favoured his scheme. They recognised 
that Asquith, a tired and despondent figure who 
had recently lost his son on the western front, 
was too leisurely a leader and the current war 
committee far too slow-moving. But Asquith 
would have to be made to agree, and he seemed 
most reluctant to do so. On 2 December, Lloyd 
George wrote a dramatic short note to Bonar 
Law – ‘The life of the country depends on reso-
lute action by you now.’16

Then on the 3rd the idea of a new War 
Committee was accepted by Asquith. The 
problem seemed to be resolved. Asquith wrote 
to Reginald McKenna’s wife on Sunday 3 
December ‘the “crisis” shows every sign of 
following its many predecessors to an early 
and unhonoured grave.’17 A formal memoran-
dum was drawn up to confirm it by Hankey 
and Bonham-Carter, Asquith’s secretary. And 
then came another sensation. On the morn-
ing of Monday 4 December, Asquith changed 
his mind again. He reversed his view, citing a 
leading article, actually written by Geoffrey 
Robinson, in Northcliffe’s Times that morning 
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which saw the new scheme as a great humili-
ation and downgrading of Asquith. Asquith’s 
change of view led directly to the great Lib-
eral split. How, when and why this occurred is 
still a matter of historical debate. It is notice-
able that at the later Reform Club meeting on 
8 December, Asquith indicated that his change 
of mind had occurred before 4 December, 
meaning that the leading article in The Times 
was not a crucial factor. Some scholars have 
claimed that Asquith’s mind was changed for 
him by a meeting with other leading Liberals. 
But Asquith was at Walmer Castle on the Kent 
coast on the night of 3–4 December, and it is 
difficult to find out that any such meeting took 
place. It looks as if Asquith had a rapid rethink 
and reached a different view all on his own. It 
was a fatal change of attitude.

The political party background to the events 
on 3–4 December was complex but crucial. 
Unionist disaffection with Bonar Law had been 
profound for some time, ever since a Union-
ist revolt on the theme of German property in 
Nigeria in early November. Carson was a major 
figure in this. Such leading Unionist figures as 
Lord Curzon and Walter Long all harboured 
their own ambitions. An even more impor-
tant Unionist was the former prime minister, 
Arthur Balfour. To Asquith’s great astonish-
ment, Balfour (who was on his sick-bed) wrote 
late on 4 December saying, in effect, that he 
would be prepared to consider taking office 
under Lloyd George, if asked.18 This was a 
major turning point in the crisis. Perhaps it was 
Balfour, not Addison, who turned out to be the 
real kingmaker.

In the Liberal ranks, things were very con-
fused. Asquith had around him a group of 
strongly anti-Lloyd George Liberals, headed 
by McKenna, who urged defiance. But he him-
self was amazingly casual in defending him-
self. At the height of the crisis on 3 December 
he had taken the extraordinary decision to take 
a trip to Walmer Castle in eastern Kent, the 
residence of the Warden of the Cinque Ports 
which involved a long, slow drive and removed 
him from the centre of the action in London 
at a crucial moment. Meanwhile, Addison was 
again busy mobilising the ranks of the potential 
pro-Lloyd George Liberals, growing rapidly in 
number.19

Apart from manoeuvres in the political par-
ties, another background factor was the unique 
influence of the press in wartime. With a sup-
posed party truce in place and traditional party 
politics in abeyance, it was in the wartime press 
that much of the debate, speculation and gos-
sip was now occurring. This gave particular 
importance to press men like Robert Donald 
in the Daily Chronicle, Henry Dalziel’s Reynolds 
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News, C. P. Scott in the Manchester Guard-
ian, and above all the energetic though highly 
erratic Lord Northcliffe in The Times who saw 
Lloyd George almost every day. Lloyd George’s 
links with the newspaper world, journalists, 
editors and proprietors, was a central thread in 
his political career from the start of his parlia-
mentary career in Wales. By contrast, Asquith 
largely ignored the press (he had enormous 
contempt for Northcliffe) and he was to pay a 
heavy price.

In the end, Asquith concluded early on 5 
December that the price demanded for the 
new War Committee was too high, and said 
this to the king. Unionist support was melt-
ing away, while grandees like Lord Curzon 
pursued their own ambitions. Asquith now 
resigned along with all his ministers – this was 
intended not as a surrender but as an aggressive 
gesture, which assumed that he would shortly 
return to office since no other leader could be 
found or could command sufficient support. 
Bonar Law soon declined the king’s proposal 
that he become premier. Then at 6.30 pm on 6 
December, the king asked Lloyd George if he 
could form a government. It took just twenty-
four hours. Liberal backbench MPs were again 
approached by Addison on behalf of Lloyd 
George: there were 49 firm supporters plus 
another 126 who would support him if he 
were prepared to become premier, well over 
half the 260-odd Liberal MPs in the Com-
mons). Finally and crucially Lloyd George, by 
one vote only (according to his War Memoirs),20 
or more probably half a dozen or so, won 
over the support of the Labour Party national 
executive – a key factor was that their leader, 
Arthur Henderson, would join the future five-
man War Cabinet. Lloyd George then went 
to see King George V around 7.30 pm on 7 
December. One fascinating feature of their 
conversation was that Lloyd George appears to 
have rowed back and agreed to keep Carson at 
the Admiralty, rather than put him in the War 
Cabinet (Milner went there instead and was a 
great success). This unusual act of deference 
to his monarch by a Welsh radical (and half 
republican) merits attention. It may have been 
a rare modem example of a king successfully 
insisting on a change of personnel amongst his 
ministers, comparable to George VI appar-
ently determining the offices of Ernest Bevin 
and Hugh Dalton when Attlee formed his 
Labour government in 1945. It was Milner 
who filled up the place in the War Cabinet 
while Carson went to the Admiralty – where 
it must be said George V’s confidence in his 
ministerial talents was soon disabused. In the 
end, Carson, something of a pliant tool of the 
admirals, had to be sacked.

The truth of these tumultuous events is that 
Lloyd George and Asquith were both ambi-
tious men playing for the highest stakes in 
politics. But Lloyd George did so far more 
effectively. Asquith misjudged all the Union-
ists, especially the outlook of Arthur Balfour, 
whose personal ties with Lloyd George had 
been formed during the Parliament Bill cri-
sis back in 1910. He despised Bonar Law and 
thought him ‘third- rate’. ‘I would sooner 
wrestle with a chimney sweep,’ declared 
Asquith of the Unionist leader.21 Similarly 
Asquith’s old colleague, Lord Haldane, dis-
missed the new government as ‘very lower 
class’. Asquith disregarded Labour as relatively 
unimportant and took for granted that his own 
loyal Liberals would inevitably follow his lead. 
He forgot Addison as Lord Randolph Church-
ill had in 1886 allegedly forgotten Goschen. 
He exaggerated his own indispensability and 
assumed his old Liberal loyalists would follow 
him regardless. He thought it totally improb-
able that Lloyd George would be able to form 
a government at all. It was Asquith who broke 
the tentative accord on 4 December and there-
fore triggered off his own downfall. The next 
day, Friday 8 December, the mass meeting 
of Liberal MPs and peers at the Reform Club 
was to endorse Asquith’s leadership. But the 
Liberal split had been institutionalised. Even 
Generals Haig and Robertson appeared to sup-
port Lloyd George’s rise to power at the time.22 
There was now a leader at last.

Thereafter Lloyd George launched a politi-
cal revolution – Richard Crossman has even 
suggested, with much exaggeration, that he 
did away with traditional Cabinet government 
with a new era of prime ministerial govern-
ment more akin to the regime of an American 
president. Certainly he launched the Cabinet 
Office (at first the Secretariat), he handled mat-
ters from negotiations with Clemenceau to 
private agreements with the trade unions, he 
talked at first hand to the press, he had his squad 
of special advisers, some of them working in 
the grounds of No. 10 – the ‘garden suburb’ 
headed by Philip Kerr. 

It must be asked whether, after this dramatic 
crisis, Lloyd George proved to be a better war 
leader than Asquith had been? Certainly, he 
made bad mistakes, notably in backing the 
disastrous French army offensive under Gen-
eral Nivelle in the spring of 1917 which under-
mined morale in the French army and led to 
mutinies in the ranks. In the summer, Pass-
chendaele occurred under his watch, when he 
was outvoted in Cabinet by his usual allies, 
Milner and General Smuts. But overall Lloyd 
George was clearly in command in a way that 
Asquith could never approach in wartime and 
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was an inspirational force who ral-
lied the nation with his eloquence. 
By contrast, Asquith was, in effect, a 
poor leader of the Opposition. He per-
formed badly in the Maurice debate 
(9 May 1918) when he seemed half-
hearted in trying to defend General 
Maurice’s charges that the govern-
ment had reduced British forces on 
the western front and lied about it 
to parliament. In the debate, Lloyd 
George destroyed Asquith, show-
ing that the government’s own fig-
ures about the reserves had come from 
Maurice’s own office. It was a devas-
tating parliamentary triumph and it 
was well that he won it in order to pre-
serve civilian not military control of 
wartime government, Subsequently 
the Liberals divided up into pro- and 
anti-government MPs. At the general 
election of December 1918, the fol-
lowers of Asquith claimed fewer than 
thirty MPs, while Lloyd George won 
a landslide with 520 ‘couponed’ sup-
porters including 130 Coalition Liber-
als. Asquith was defeated at East Fife 
and, no doubt wisely, refused Lloyd 
George’s offer (a very half-hearted 
one) of the post of Lord Chancellor.

The odds were totally against 
Asquith at this stage. There had been a 
visionary aspect about some of Lloyd 
George’s wartime leadership. In inter-
national affairs, he had produced, 
before the trade unions, his own ver-
sion of the ‘fourteen points’, perhaps 
more realistic than the utopian ideas of 
the US president, Woodrow Wilson. 
His government was also an important 
one in domestic reform. It passed votes 
for women, an important state educa-
tion Act, much social reform includ-
ing Addison’s social housing schemes, 
a Ministry of Health, and extended 
unemployment insurance. The gov-
ernment’s attempts at Reconstruction, 
though later derided, proved to be the 
last hurrah for the New Liberalism of 
pre-191423 Some called it a Land Fit 
for Heroes, which indeed, contrary to 
Keynes’s later accusations, was what 
the government primarily offered 
the electors in their manifesto in the 
so-called ‘coupon’ general election of 
December 1918.

Liberals thereafter were haunted 
by the legacy of the December days 
of 1916, nowhere more so than in 
the Reform Club where Asquith’s 

followers were powerful, notably his 
biographer, J. A. Spender. Asquith 
remained president of the club’s politi-
cal committee until his death in 1928 
when he was succeeded by his old 
Whiggish ally, Lord Crewe. Politi-
cally, Lloyd George supplied new 
energy, ideas and policies for his party 
down to 1929, but was now a divi-
sive force whose Political Fund (put 
together by selling off titles and peer-
ages in the clubs of Pall Mall) created 
a wave of distrust and perhaps disgust. 
Old Asquithians were to leave him 
after the general election in 1931 – he 
was left with a family party of four, 
while the National Liberals, formed by 
Simon, Runciman and other former 
Asquithians, in effect became Conserv-
atives. Lloyd George’s controversial 
War Memoirs did not help in winning 
followers at this juncture. It was ironic 
that an old Liberal, Winston Church-
ill, finally became prime minister in 
May 1940, to some degree with Lloyd 
George’s rhetorical support. Unlike 
Lloyd George, he was to make sure of 
his political base by ensuring that he 
became party leader of the Conserva-
tives after the death of Neville Cham-
berlain. In the First World War, his old 
Liberal comrade had in effect been a 
prime minister without a party. 

But it would be wrong to leave 
the relationship between Asquith 
and Lloyd George as simply a record 
of distrust and division. Until per-
haps the summer of 1916 they were 
a hugely effective partnership, per-
haps our greatest ever in times of 
peace. The qualities of both were 
needed – as Matthew Arnold put 
it, those of ‘the Saxon and the Celt’. 
There was Asquith, Balliol’s ‘noblest 
Roman’, with rare clarity of judge-
ment (even if, as A. J. P. Taylor wrote, 
‘the toga was somewhat tattered’),24 
and the irrepressible Welshman with 
unique dynamism and vision. It was 
an irresistible combination. World 
war fatally disrupted their partner-
ship and undermined their alliance. 
But for years they had made their 
party an incomparable instrument 
of government. They changed their 
country irreversibly and for the bet-
ter. A hundred years on from the cri-
sis, to the very day, the very minute, 
perhaps that is what we should most 
remember.

Professor Lord Morgan FBA is a former 
Fellow and Praelector of The Queen’s Col-
lege, Oxford and Vice-Chancellor, Uni-
versity of Wales; he is presently Visiting 
Professor, King’s London, a Labour peer and 
a member of the House of Lords Select Com-
mittee on the Constitution.
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The 1924 Labour Government and the Failure of the Whips

The first Labour government has been 
the subject of much research, aided 
by a remarkable number of MPs who 

served in the 1924 parliament who either wrote 
memoirs or were the subject of biographies. 
However, though there is a consensus on the 
underlying strategic aim of Labour to use the 
arithmetic of the Liberals’ political dilemma to 
deal the party a lethal blow, there has been no 
focus hitherto on the day-to-day parliamentary 
process and the lack of a clear Labour strategy 
in government. There was neither a tacti-
cal decision to have measures that the Liberals 
could be expected to support, nor a deliber-
ate policy to press forward with more social-
ist legislation that would please its own MPs, 
or at least the more vocal of them, and delib-
erately challenge the Liberal MPs. Instead the 

government continued along an almost day-
to-day existence. The Labour parliamentary 
party had no collective experience of manag-
ing parliament and singularly failed to learn the 
tricks of the trade, not least as a consequence of 
the failure of the party whips to function effec-
tively. This analysis focuses on the key role of 
the party whips and on their responsibility for 
the short nine-month life of the first Labour 
government.

I have to declare an interest as a paid up 
member of the Whips’ Union, having acted 
as Alan Beith’s deputy whip, 1983–86. The 
importance of the whips in a party system is 
a neglected field of study. There are few seri-
ous studies of the role of whips, or even whips’ 
memoirs. Given their undoubted importance 
it is a curious gap. The evolution of structured 

Party whips
The period of the first Labour government, in 1924, dealt a fatal blow to the Liberal 
Party. How of much this was the fault of the party whips? Michael Meadowcroft 
examines the evidence.

The Labour cabinet 
of 1924; Prime 
Minister Ramsay 
MacDonald is front 
row, fifth from left
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national political parties led to the develop-
ment of a more formal role for the whips but 
there is only one significant early biography, 
that of Aretas Akers-Douglas, the first Lord 
Chilston, who was a very skilful Conservative 
whip for ten years, over the period of the Lib-
eral and Liberal Unionist split of the 1880s.1 The 
biography of Herbert Gladstone by Sir Charles 
Mallet2 contains a chapter on the chief whip’s 
role and work whereas Gladstone’s own mem-
oirs3 are curiously silent on his six years as chief 
whip. Vivian Phillipps, a key figure in the 1924 
parliament, produced a privately published vol-
ume of memoirs which contains many useful 
anecdotes of his travails as chief whip.4 Later 
Liberal whips as diarists, from Percy Harris in 
1935 onwards, were dealing with such small 
forces that their role was survival and to achieve 
visibility more than being strategic. More 
recently Tim Renton produced memoirs, not 
just of his own experience serving Margaret 
Thatcher, but also giving a history of the office 
of chief whip.5 Another, wholly unlikely but 
excellent memoir, is that of Gyles Brandreth on 
his experience of the fraught 1992 John Major 
parliament.6 Finally there is a less substantial 
but readable book by Helen Jones in the ‘How 
to …’ series.7 There is an interesting and practi-
cal chapter on the role of whips in Frank Gray’s 
1925 book Confessions of a Candidate. Gray was 
a junior whip in 1924 but his chapter is, curi-
ously, all in the abstract with no references to 
the actual whips situation.8

Any Liberal who does naively oppose the 
‘Whip System’, should be in the House for a 
free vote – it is chaotic. Members of Parliament, 
except on the rare occasions when they have a 
keen interest in a subject and may be unhappy 
with the party ‘line’, rely on their whips to 
indicate into which lobby they should go. With 
a free vote MPs descend on the lobbies but are 
given no indication as to any ‘line’ and have to 
rely on information from colleagues involved 
in the debate. But much more important than 

getting all one’s MPs in to vote in the right 
lobby is the continual negotiation over the 
parliamentary timetable and one’s party’s par-
ticipation. The ability of parliament to func-
tion relies greatly on the cooperation between 
the whips’ offices and the Speaker’s office. The 
timing of debates and, usually, of divisions; 
the introduction of statements and even the 
names of one’s speakers in debates, are all aided 
and abetted by the whips and usually agreed 
between them. In almost all circumstances 
it works smoothly and the public only finds 
out about the process when it breaks down. 
It was over the lack of informal, functioning 
‘usual channels’ that the 1924 parliament failed 
and where the Labour government was so ill-
served. This article focuses on the running of 
the government and the policies and initiatives 
of it only insofar as they impinge on the neces-
sary machinery for its survival. On the content 
of the government’s nine months in office, the 
2006 work by John Shepherd and Keith Lay-
bourn provides a detailed record.9 The excel-
lent, and well-indexed, Liberal Magazine bound 
volume for 1924 provides a detailed and largely 
objective record of parliamentary proceedings 
but with the addition of Liberal speeches.10

The path to 1924
I now return to the Liberal Party and its own 
travails over its whips. From 1912 the Liberals’ 
whips’ team was in the capable hands of Percy 
Illingworth. Illingworth, as his name implies 
was a Yorkshire wool man, MP for Shipley from 
1906. He was personally popular and his compe-
tence was universally respected. Unfortunately 
he ate a bad oyster in December 1914 and died 
of typhoid fever only a few weeks later. Had he 
continued in office the Liberal Party divisions of 
1916 and thereafter would probably have been 
diminished even if not prevented. Lloyd George 
is on record as stating, in his War Memoirs, that 
Illingworth would have prevented the rift that 
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occurred between him and Asquith.11 It is curi-
ous, and certainly unique, that an unfortunate 
mollusc played a significant role in the downfall 
of the Liberal Party.

Asquith offered the post to J. H. Whitley, 
who had earlier had three years’ experience as 
a junior whip, but he declined the post, osten-
sibly on health grounds but he had by then 
become Deputy Speaker and he raised the issue 
of the propriety of returning to the party fray 
from that position.12 Also he had his sights 
set on succeeding to the top office – which he 
duly did in 1921. Whitley was the MP for Hali-
fax and was another solid Yorkshire business-
man who might well also have been an able 
chief whip. Asquith then tried to have a dual 
whip with John Gulland and William Wedg-
wood Benn, but this was also rejected. Even-
tually John Gulland was appointed. He was 
described as able, loyal but unimaginative. In 
any case he lost his seat at the 1918 election. This 
extremely unsatisfactory whips’ office situation 
continued with the dual appointment of James 
Hogge and George Thorne. After the 1922 elec-
tion Sir Arthur Marshall was added to make 
it a triumvirate. However, in February 1923, 
Thorne resigned on health grounds and Asquith 
decided to revert to a single chief whip. Hogge 
was thought to have personal and political 
defects and, eventually, Asquith’s former secre-
tary, Vivian Phillipps, was appointed. 

Phillipps was a new MP in 1922 and had prob-
lems exercising authority over his troublesome 
colleagues and, in addition, he had one great 
fault – in Liberal historian Roy Douglas’s words, 
he was ‘one of the most virulent opponents of 
Lloyd George and his appointment could hardly 
be expected to help the cause of reunion.’13 The 
die was now cast for the 1924 parliament and thus 
the final consequence of the bad oyster.

In the midst of all this the Conservatives 
played a careful hand, quietly waiting to see 
how the cards would fall and ready to play their 
hand with tactical skill. Bolton Eyres-Mon-
sell14 had been promoted to chief whip in 1923 
and served until 1931. He and Baldwin carried 
on skilfully keeping their Conservative flock 
in order and contributing towards the under-
mining of the Liberals. Baldwin saw the clear 
opportunity to ‘smash the Liberals’ and the 
opportunities piled up cumulatively during his 
time in opposition.15

Labour had a particular problem with regard 
to its chief whip. In that office previously had 
been the experienced and highly competent 
Arthur Henderson but he was, at least tem-
porarily, out of parliament. In Henderson’s 
absence at the outset of the new parliament, 
Ben Spoor was appointed as acting chief whip 
and thus, following MacDonald’s appointment 

Chief Whips in 1924:

Vivian Phillipps 
(1870–1955), Liberal 
Chief Whip 1923–24

Ben Spoor (1878–
1928), Labour Chief 
Whip 1924–25

Bolton Eyres-
Monsell (1881–1969), 
Conservative Chief 
Whip 1923–31

The 1924 Labour government and the failure of the whips
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as prime minister, the government chief whip. 
He was never replaced, even when Henderson 
returned following his victory at the Burnley 
by-election on 28 February. Ben Spoor remains 
a shadowy figure despite his crucial role in the 
1924 Labour government and its demise.16 His 
was an unexpected Independent Labour Party 
(ILP)17 gain in Bishop Auckland in 1918, win-
ning the seat on the back of his local govern-
ment service and his Methodist local preaching. 
He was very much Henderson’s protégé in the 
House but Henderson was apparently unaware 
of two of Spoor’s incipient problems that would 
undermine his political career. One was not of 
his making: his war service in Salonika caused 
him to be invalided home with malaria – and 
the variety of this awful disease was one that 
recurred sporadically and which consequently 
impinged on his attendance in the House.

Spoor’s other huge problem was his latent 
alcoholism, which developed rapidly over 
his years in parliament and which eventu-
ally caused his premature death. These two 
handicaps meant that he was very often absent, 
leaving an inevitably directionless and uncoor-
dinated parliamentary party. On 4 June 1924, 
for instance, he sent a message to MacDonald, ‘I 
am sorry I am knocked out this week but hope 
to be back at work in a day or two’.

The scene was set: a sick and increasingly 
alcoholic Labour chief whip and an inexpe-
rienced and factional Liberal opposite num-
ber. What was the parliamentary and political 
situation that faced them? The replacement of 
Asquith in 1916 as the wartime prime minis-
ter under duress by Lloyd George had created a 
bitter and deep-seated split within the Liberal 
Party that was never really healed. The divi-
sion was compounded at the 1918 ‘coupon’ gen-
eral election18 when Lloyd George contested 
the election at the head of a coalition of pro-
coalition Liberals – essentially his personal sup-
porters – and Conservatives (and a handful of 
Coalition Labour and a dozen other candidates.) 
The Coalition Liberals fielded 158 candidates, 
of which 133 were elected. Of the Conserva-
tives, 335 out of 374 were elected and, with 10 
Coalition Labour MPs, the government had a 
massive majority – 478 to 229. The Asquithian 
Liberals fielded 253 candidates but only 28 were 
elected. Asquith himself was defeated but was 
soon returned to parliament at a famous by-
election in Paisley in February 1920.

The Conservatives became increasingly fed 
up with having a majority of seats in the coa-
lition but being led by a Liberal prime minis-
ter and, in October 1922, in a meeting at the 
Carlton Club the MPs voted, against their own 
leadership, to end the coalition. In the general 
election a month later the Conservatives had a 

decisive majority. The Lloyd George Liberals, 
fighting as ‘National Liberals’ fielded 162 can-
didates but only elected sixty-two MPs. The 
Asquithian Liberals almost doubled their repre-
sentation, to fifty-four seats. The alarming fact 
– for Liberals – was that the Labour Party more 
than doubled its representation – from 63 to 142 
MPs – more, in fact, than the Independent Lib-
erals and the Lloyd George Liberals combined.

Stanley Baldwin19 had taken over from 
Bonar Law20 as Conservative leader in May 
1923 and, six months later he gave the Liberals 
a considerable gift in suddenly coming out for 
protection and tariffs and calling an election 
on the issue. Asquith and Lloyd George imme-
diately met and declared that all Liberal can-
didates would be simply and solely described 
as ‘Liberals’. It was clear that only with unity 
between the two factions could the Liberal 
Party survive, and the two leaders, despite the 
bitter recent past, were theoretically reconciled 
and Lloyd George accepted Asquith’s leadership 
in a united party. Even so, there were many in 
the Asquithian Liberal camp who did not trust 
Lloyd George and who never committed them-
selves fully to the united party.

It would be possible to go on at length about 
the December 1923 election results and the inter-
esting differences in Liberal performance around 
the country but it is not germane to our subject 
in this article. Suffice to say that the result left 
the Liberals with a huge dilemma. The Con-
servatives were the largest party with 258 seats; 
Labour was second with 191; and, just 127,000 
behind in votes, the ostensibly united Liberals 
were third with 159. Having fought the election 
on the key issue of free trade versus protection 
it was clearly impossible for the Liberals to keep 
the Conservatives in office.21 It was equally dif-
ficult, politically, given the immediate past his-
tory of a damaging coalition, for them to enter 
into any kind of formal pact or coalition with 
Labour, even in the unlikely event of that party 
being willing. Asquith decided that the con-
stitutional position was that if Baldwin could 
not get a King’s Speech through the House of 
Commons then the king should ask Ramsay 
MacDonald,22 as leader of the next largest party, 
to try and form a government – and the Liber-
als would not oppose that initial move. A meet-
ing at the National Liberal Club of almost all 
the Liberal MPs agreed with this line – and, cru-
cially, Lloyd George endorsed it.23

Asquith seemed not to have seriously envis-
aged playing for a minority Liberal administra-
tion.24 After all, the Liberals had polled almost 
as many votes as Labour and the two parties had 
fought the election on the key point of oppos-
ing Tory tariffs, and moreover Labour’s mani-
festo had little that could not be endorsed by 
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‘advanced’ Liberals. The arithmetic was, of 
course, somewhat more adverse, but the same 
principle applied – that the ‘second’ anti-Con-
servative party – whichever it was – would 
have to maintain a permanent presence in the 
Commons to ensure survival. Roy Douglas 
regards Asquith’s failure on this point as ‘Argu-
ably … the most disastrous single action ever 
performed by a Liberal towards his party.’25

This is perhaps over-egging it a little,26 but 
the opportunity was there – and would not have 
precluded the eventual outcome that happened. 
Asquith could simply have joined the Conserva-
tives in voting down the Labour proposition to 
form a government. The king would, presum-
ably, then have sent for Asquith who, crucially 
with Lloyd George, would have put together 
a Liberal administration and put this before 
parliament to see whether Labour would have 
voted with the Conservatives. It would surely 
have been worth a try, but he did not take the 
initiative and, as it turned out, even if it had 
failed it could not have been more disastrous 
than the eventual ending of the Labour govern-
ment after just nine months and the heavy Lib-
eral defeat at the 1924 general election. Maybe 
Asquith was weary – following eight years as 
prime minister, including three years of the war, 
and he was 72 years of age. Having said that, it is 
clear that he was not attuned to being an oppo-
sition leader. He certainly had a brilliant mind 
and was a superb debater, but it was more a legal 
than a political style. Lloyd George commented 
that Asquith could pick up the case to be put for-
ward but, however exciting the idea, ‘the words 
froze on his lips’.27

The only other possibility would have been 
some arrangement between Labour and Lib-
eral parties, but there is no evidence that any 
approaches were made in either direction. 
Ramsay MacDonald probably thought that he 
had enough problems with his Left without dis-
turbing them further. Asquith, on his part, was 
scarred by the recent experience of a split party 
and the Lloyd George coalition government. 
Following the election the Conservative lead-
ership havered as to what it should do. Finally, 
not least because Balfour had pronounced him-
self in favour of the tactic,28 Baldwin decided, 
as the incumbent prime minister and still leader 
of the largest party, to present a King’s Speech. 
As was known in advance that it would be, it 
was duly voted down and, with official Liberal 
support, MacDonald took office, never having 
hitherto been in any government position. It 
should be noted, but rarely is, that ten Liberal 
MPs voted for Baldwin’s King’s Speech.29 A bad 
omen, as will be seen later. Not all Labour MPs 
were keen on Labour taking office without a 
majority – the ‘Red Clydesiders’,30 for instance, 

were opposed but were assuaged by one of their 
number, John Wheatley, holding out for an 
important Cabinet office as minister of health – 
which included housing.

It is at this point that the two whips – I 
exclude the Conservatives – should have begun 
meeting regularly and mainly secretly. Given 
Labour’s wish to succeed, and the Liberals’ 
expressions of goodwill, their role was (a) pro-
active – planning the parliamentary timetable; 
looking at potential problems; liaising with their 
parties outside parliament; and buying off trou-
blemakers etc in advance; (b) reactive – ready to 
use standing orders and procedure – and persua-
sion – to cope with emergencies, and (c) discipli-
nary – ensuring attendance and voting with the 
whip’s instructions as published weekly. This 
clearly never happened, not even at the very 
basic level of ensuring enough MPs present for 
the continuation of business. Was this a deliber-
ate snub to the Liberals or incompetence? The 
evidence for the latter is, I believe, compelling.

Labour in office
The opportunity for Labour – and for that mat-
ter, the Conservatives – to use the parliamentary 
arithmetic to destroy the Liberal Party as a polit-
ical force was obvious but, from the beginning, 
MacDonald announced that it was going to be 
an administration for the longer term. Labour 
could afford to wait and, indeed the ground had 
to be prepared if the electorate were to accept 
yet another early election. The final precipitate 
ending of the government and the subsequent 
poor result for Labour make the point vividly. 
He recognised the difficult arithmetic and made 
it clear that he would not regard every defeat 
in the House as a vote of confidence.31 And the 
government embarked on a legislative pro-
gramme which showed almost no signs of ram-
pant socialism. Indeed, Asquith remarked that it 
was, in effect, a Liberal programme. 

Maurice Cowling points out that:

In taking office MacDonald hoped to keep 
it for a long time. The longer, he seems 
to have supposed, the better the oppor-
tunity to show that the Labour Party 
need not attract the fear and the hostility 
which Rothermere32 and Birkenhead33 had 
attempted to arouse. … It was probably the 
prominence of the Left which made him 
prefer the advantages to be gained from a 
long period of office to the dangers to be 
faced at an election in which the newspapers 
would give prominence to [that Left].34

MacDonald himself clearly looked to the gov-
ernment lasting at least for the medium term. 
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C. P. Scott, editor of the Manchester Guardian, 
noted after meeting with him:

He once again remarked that he saw no 
reason why the Government should not 
last for a couple of years or so – there was 
plenty of work to be done on which the 
two parties were in agreement to occupy at 
least that time.35

More enlightening is the comment of Beatrice 
Webb in her diary at the end of April 1924, par-
ticularly given that she was opposed to continu-
ing the government: 

[MacDonald’s] constant insistence that there 
is no need for an election, that no-one wants 
it, and that the Labour government is quite 
prepared to carry on for two or three years, 
puzzles us. We are so completely outside his 
confidence that we do not know whether 
these sayings are said in order to get a longer 
term or merely in order to throw on the 
other parties the odium of all the insecu-
rity and upset of the general election which 
he believes is imminent. We are inclined 
to think that he consciously and subcon-
sciously desires continuance in office.36

Thus it is important to revisit the events of 18 
December 1923 to 8 October 1924. On the fail-
ures of the processes necessary to the survival 
of the government and, in particular, the avoid-
able series of events that led to its fall, the stand-
ard histories are largely wrong, or, at very least, 
deficient. Essentially, the first Labour govern-
ment could have accomplished much more and 
have survived much longer had Labour’s – i.e. 
the government’s – chief whip and the Liberal 
chief whip, been more experienced, more com-
petent and, particularly in the case of Labour, 
more attentive. The parliament drifted willy-
nilly, without direction and without plan-
ning. Even worse, the Labour whips failed to 
rein in the hotheads in their own party who 
were openly anti-Liberal. The government was 
under great pressure – it was hugely inexperi-
enced – the prime minister, Ramsay MacDon-
ald, had never been even a junior minister, and 
was also trying to be his own foreign secretary. 
Only Arthur Henderson37 had been in the Cabi-
net previously, having played a vital role in the 
War Cabinet until the events of the summer of 
1917 relating to the efforts of the Kerensky gov-
ernment in revolutionary Russia to promote 
a meeting of socialist parties in Stockholm, 
which he was determined to attend, caused his 
resignation. However, he had lost his seat at the 
December 1923 election and his absence in the 
crucial early days was a serious blow to Labour. 

In addition to Henderson, only Stephen Walsh38 
had been even a junior minister.

Henderson – ‘Uncle Arthur’ to junior col-
leagues – was an expert at winning by-elections 
but losing general elections. Having lost New-
castle East (from the withdrawal of the Con-
servative candidate – all whose votes went to 
the Liberal) at the December 1923 election, he 
then won a by-election in Burnley on 28 Feb-
ruary (thanks to the withdrawal of the Liberal, 
whose votes went to Henderson.) He had been 
kept in the frame by MacDonald and he had 
insisted on heading a ‘service’ department and 
became home secretary. Henderson was very 
much a party loyalist and, after the wartime 
coalition, had taken on the task of getting the 
party organised; this included acting as chief 
whip for four years from 1920. Ben Spoor was a 
poor replacement.

Given the parliamentary arithmetic, it was 
necessary to cooperate closely with the Lib-
eral chief whip even to keep the House sitting. 
This was simply not done. It is represented in 
the histories as a deliberate tactic but I suspect 
that it was simply a consequence of the gaps and 
failures of the Labour whips’ office. You might 
well ask why the other Labour whips did not 
grasp the situation, well, The Times commented 
on 6 August 1924 on ‘Bad party staff work’: 

The Whips’ Room has been heavily handi-
capped this Session by the continuous 
absences of Mr Ben Spoor, the Chief Gov-
ernment Whip, and by the breakdowns in 
health of two other Whips, Mr Tom Grif-
fiths and Mr Tom Kennedy, but it has been 
obvious to those who have been watching 
events that the Whips have exercised little 
influence over the rank and file.

Also Beatrice Webb was less restrained in her 
diary comments (13 March 1924) ‘Ben Spoor, 
never a forceful personality, is weakened by 
malaria and has been absent most of the session 
… These senior whips – with the exception of 
Tom Kennedy who is admirable – either do not 
attend to the business or fumble it badly.’39 And 
Tom Jones, senior Cabinet official, wrote in his 
diary, ‘… the position of business in the House 
almost hopeless, owing to the incompetence 
of Clynes and the inexperience of the Labour 
Whips.’40 The Liberal chief whip, Vivian Phil-
lipps, made the same complaint: 

The Government Whips were the last word 
in incompetence. They would put down 
motions for the suspension of the eleven 
o’clock rule without consulting me as to 
whether a sufficient number of our people 
would be able to stay after eleven o’clock 
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to see them safe in Divisions. They would 
make arrangements with the Tories about 
the business to be taken on this or that day 
and would leave me in complete ignorance 
of the arrangement until the House met.41

Moving forward, to complete the sad story of 
Ben Spoor, he continued as chief Labour whip 
into the next parliament, following the election 
of 29 October 1924 with a Conservative major-
ity of over 200, finally resigning on 9 March 
1925 ‘owing to ill health’.42 Arthur Henderson 
took over once more and proceeded to reorgan-
ise the whole operation. Spoor wrote a number 
of press articles early in 1926 calling for coop-
eration between Labour and Liberal parties. In 
terms redolent of the debate in May 2017 on a 
Progressive Alliance against the Conservatives, 
he argued that ‘Clynes43 has closer community 
of interest with Wedgwood Benn44 than he has 
with John Wheatley,45 and that Ramsay Mac-
Donald46 is ultimately nearer to Walter Runci-
man47 than he is to, say, Neil McLean.48 If we 
only have the courage to face facts it is possible 
that within the next few years a really united 
people’s party may be evolved and an alterna-
tive government to the present one secured.’49 
On 23 February 1926, the Press Department 
of the Independent Labour Party issued a 
statement:

The National Council of the Independ-
ent Labour Party has considered recent 
articles by Mr Ben Spoor, MP, on the rela-
tions of the Labour Party and the Liberal 
Party and the attitude of the ILP, and has 
informed Mr Spoor that they represent a 
view so divergent from that of the ILP that 
it would be desirable, in its view, that his 
official connection with the party, as one of 
the Members of Parliament for whose can-
didature the ILP is responsible, should not 
be continued.50

Freed from the Trappist vow of chief whip and 
now of party discipline, he nevertheless rarely 
spoke in the House thereafter. In four years he 
made just ten speeches and asked three Oral 
Questions; his last intervention was a Writ-
ten Question on 23 May 1928. The following 
month he announced his intention to retire at the 
forthcoming election – because of ‘persistent ill-
health and private reasons.’ But he didn’t reach 
the 1929 election, dying on 22 December 1928.

He died in the Regent Palace Hotel and the 
subsequent inquest is very stark. The chamber-
maid testified that she had had to put him to 
bed on a number of occasions, as on the after-
noon of 21 December as ‘he was obviously ill.’ 
The following morning she found him dead. 

The pathologist reported heart and liver disease 
‘accelerated by chronic alcoholism.’ The Coro-
ner remarked that Spoor ‘had been certified 
insane’ because of his drinking and gave a ver-
dict of death from chronic alcoholism. If he had 
been certified insane it is odd that the House 
had not expelled him, as per Charles Leach in 
1916.51 Such was the sad end of Ben Spoor, a for-
merly respected Labour pioneer.52

In the midst of all the Liberal and Labour 
machinations of early 1924, Bolton (Bobbie) 
Eyres-Monsell had been promoted to Conserv-
ative chief whip in 1923 and served until 1931. 
He and Baldwin carried on quietly, keeping his 
Conservative flock in order and undermining 
the Liberals.

One has to remember that this administra-
tion only lasted nine months so that every-
thing is telescoped. The welter of comments 
and statements give the impression that they 
are spread over years, but not so. The stresses 
and strains were day to day and week to week. 
Just as MacDonald intimated in advance, the 
government was, indeed, defeated in twelve 
divisions before being defeated in the final 
division,53 which was regarded by MacDonald 
as a vote of confidence; some of the defeats were 
on quite significant issues, such the Rent and 
Mortgage Restrictions Bill, the Housing Bill 
and the London Traffic Bill. Curiously, given 
the different arithmetic, the government was 
defeated in the Commons more times than in 
the Lords. Even so, the day-to-day pressures 
of government, particularly for such inexperi-
enced ministers, are not sufficient reason for the 
Labour leadership failing to recognise that the 
party machinery was failing and realising that 
drastic action was required.

It is important to examine the character of 
the man who had assumed the historic task of 
being the first Labour prime minister. First, we 
need to realise that he only became leader54 by 
five votes, deposing J. R. Clynes in 1922. This 
had repercussions in that MacDonald felt that 
he had to appoint Clynes as his deputy in 1924 
and, given that MacDonald was his own for-
eign secretary, he was often absent abroad and 
Clynes had to deputise. However, the only per-
son who thought that Clynes performed well in 
the post was Clynes.55

There was no sign whatever in MacDonald’s 
background of an antipathy towards the Liber-
als; indeed, he had had considerable involve-
ment with Liberals:
•	 1889 – member of the National Liberal 

Club (until 1895)
•	 1894 – member, and secretary and treasurer 

of the Rainbow Circle from its beginning 
up to 1900.56 He attended a Circle meeting 
on 5 March 1924 as prime minister.
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•	 1903 – concluded and enforced the Glad-
stone–MacDonald pact under which 
thirty-one Labour candidates were given 
straight fights with the Conservatives in 
return for Labour candidates withdrawing 
in favour of Liberals in other seats.57

Also his electoral record is significant. From 
1906 to 1924 – up to the election following 
the 1924 Labour government – he was given 
straight fights and never had to fight a Liberal 
candidate in nine contests. 

This is not the record of a Labour politi-
cian with a grudge against Liberals. (It is inter-
esting that Philip Snowden, who had not had 
any particular involvement with Liberals, was 
more sympathetic and wished the government 
to continue. But then Snowden did not get on 
with MacDonald). So why the considerable 
provocations that offended the Liberals? Lib-
eral MPs understandably complained that while 
they were incarcerated in the House voting 
through Labour legislation, the Labour Party 
in the country was adopting candidates in their 
seats. It was intolerable. Where were the whips? 
Who was going to take up the enforcer role that 
MacDonald had carried out in 1903 following 
his electoral arrangement with Herbert Glad-
stone? The answer is no one.

The situation became worse and the 
entrenched anti-Liberals in the Labour Party, 
mainly but not entirely on the Left, exploited the 
lack of internal Labour discipline as an opportu-
nity for free hits against the Liberals who were 
taking a highly responsible attitude to being pre-
sent in parliament to maintain the government.58 
It was eventually agreed that Liberal MPs would 
consult their constituents during the Easter 
recess. As part of this, in the course of a long 
speech to his constituents on 22 April 1924, Lloyd 
George came out with a vivid ironic image, in 
effect a warning shot across the Labour bows:

[Labour says] Liberalism is in the way. It has 
to be killed. There won’t be any election for 
two or three years, so we are allowed to live 
for a little longer. We must make the best 
use if our time, and meanwhile we must 
help Labour. Liberals are to be the oxen to 
drag Labour over the rough roads of Parlia-
ment for two or three years, and at the end 
of the journey, when there is no further use 
for them, they are to be slaughtered. That is 
the Labour idea of co-operation.59

The significance of this speech was clear. But 
despite the clearly expressed Liberal concerns, 
Labour put up a candidate – for the first time 
ever – in the Oxford by-election of 5 June effec-
tively causing the loss of this Liberal seat to the 
Conservatives.

There were other inflammatory speeches, 
Labour cosying up to the Conservatives,60 
MacDonald whingeing to C. P. Scott,61 know-
ing it would get back to the Liberals,62 and the 
Red Clydesiders urging more socialist meas-
ures.63 These latter were, in fact, paper tigers. 
The success of John Wheatley was a constant 
reprimand to them and an example of how to 
make government work, but they had to make 
their point.64 (It was their acknowledged leader 
James Maxton who made the famous quote 
that ‘if you can’t ride two horses at the same 
time, you shouldn’t be in this circus.’65) Simi-
larly, Asquith’s initial comment that a Labour 
government would be in hock to the Liberals 
was very insulting and it was a constant Labour 
complaint that the Liberal grandees were very 
condescending, as no doubt they were.66 (Of 
course, Labour had huge problems with pro-
tocol and dressing up etc. in which ex-Liberal, 
now Labour, fellow ministers such as Haldane 
were even more patronising). But here again, it 
is up to the whips to say, ‘Look, don’t worry – 
we have to say all these things to keep the party 
happy. It doesn’t mean anything.’ Apparently 
no one said this.

The frustrations continued unabated on both 
sides through the months and became notice-
ably worse following the party speeches made 
over the Easter recess, the significance of which 
were not heeded. It is a salutary exercise to read 
through the 1924 volume of the Liberal Mag-
azine. It was early on in the session following 
the recess that the rapprochement and, more 
importantly, the trust between Asquith and 
Lloyd George was undermined. 

On 22 May the Conservatives had put down 
a motion a motion to reduce the minister’s sal-
ary by £100 – the curious House of Commons 
way of saying that the minister is incompetent 
– because no measures to reduce unemploy-
ment had been brought forward. The Liberals 
made it known that they would await Ram-
say’s speech before deciding how to vote. This 
would ensure – as it did – that there would 
have to be a constructive speech rather than a 
political harangue. After MacDonald’s posi-
tive speech the Liberal MPs met and Asquith 
said that in view of the tone and content of his 
speech he was prepared to return to the cham-
ber and to say that the Liberals would support 
the government and vote down the Conserva-
tive motion. The chief whip, Phillipps, stated 
that this seemed to be the prevailing view. 
Then Lloyd George spoke; he disagreed and 
felt that Ramsay’s speech had not allayed his 
doubts. However, he was determined to sup-
port Liberal reunion and to be loyal to Asquith 
and would therefore follow the Asquith line. So 
far, so good.
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Then, when Asquith had thanked him, 
Lloyd George said that unfortunately he had 
a dinner engagement and could not be present 
for the division. He left the meeting. Phillipps 
relates that a dozen or so Liberal MPs said to 
him that he must see Lloyd George and per-
suade him to attend and vote. Phillipps reluc-
tantly went to see Lloyd George, just as he was 
leaving for his dinner:

He was frankness itself. He did not want to 
go against the party, but as for actually vot-
ing with the Government, that was more 
than he could stand. Nothing would induce 
him to do it.

Phillipps states (and one needs to bear in mind 
his long antipathy to Lloyd George):

This was the beginning of a feeling of dis-
trust and suspicion of him which was a con-
tinuing source of difficulty in our work 
during the remainder of the Session.67

The government staggered on after the sum-
mer recess with much of the business being 
non-controversial. We can therefore fast for-
ward to the final bizarre circumstances that led 
to the fall of the government. Looming on the 
horizon – again apparently without warnings 
from the whips as to the likely consequences 
of bringing something controversial forward 
without fixing support in the lobbies – was the 
Russian Treaty, and it is stated in most histories 
that, although, as we shall see, the government 
fell on a different and relatively trivial issue, it 
was the tabling of the Russian Treaty which 
was the real breaking point. I disagree. The 
1923 Liberal manifesto stated clearly:

[We] would welcome the reopening of full 
relations with Russia.68

and this wording gave ample room to manoeuvre. 
Indeed, it was not even the loan to Russia itself 
that would have brought inter-party difficulties 
but only the government’s guaranteeing of it.69

As it happens the substantive issue never 
arose. A comedy of errors ensued whose 
momentum none of the key players seemed 
able to arrest and which finally destroyed the 
first Labour government. Labour’s attorney 
general, Sir Patrick Hastings,70 was an emi-
nent lawyer but certainly not an experienced 
nor savvy politician. The events themselves are 
convoluted but can be summarised starkly for 
the sake of focusing on their impact on the gov-
ernment’s frailty. The editor (acting editor, as it 
later turned out) of a Communist weekly paper, 
the Workers’ Weekly,71 John Campbell,72 wrote a 

front-page editorial urging British soldiers not 
to shoot fellow workers. Sir Patrick, as the gov-
ernment’s chief law offer, gave his opinion that 
this was seditious and treasonable. The direc-
tor of public prosecutions therefore decided to 
prosecute Campbell under an ancient law, the 
Incitement to Mutiny Act of 1797.73

Sir Patrick had no sense of the political 
furore that would follow from his action. To 
the government’s horror it was soon publicised 
that, not only was Campbell only a stand-in 
editor, but also he was a decorated First World 
War veteran who had been grievously injured 
in both feet. It didn’t take much in the way of 
representation from MacDonald and others in 
the government for Sir Patrick gracefully to 
withdraw the prosecution. This was, of course, 
naive in that it left him open to accusations that 
there had been political pressure on the legal 
process – which was, of course, entirely true, 
even if justified. Foolishly MacDonald told the 
House he had not intervened, even though he 
had, and even though Sir Patrick Hastings vol-
unteered to take full responsibility. 

A Private Notice question from the Con-
servative MP, Sir Kingsley Wood,74 essentially 
censured the government for its action on the 
Campbell case. This clearly put the Liberals in 
a dilemma. The last thing they wanted was an 
election and so, as a way out, they put down a 
fairly bland motion asking for a parliamentary 
enquiry to examine the facts. The Tories saw 
their opportunity – and took it. In the course 
of the debate, the government said, foolishly, 
given that they were only dealing with proce-
dural matters rather than the substantive issue, 
that it would regard both motions as issues 
of confidence, so the Tories withdrew their 
motion and said they would back the Liber-
als’ proposed committee of enquiry. The Lib-
erals could hardly avoid supporting their own 
motion and so they were duly impaled. The 
received truth is that the Liberals had decided to 
turn the government out but this is the oppo-
site of the case. The Liberals tried every way 
to prevent it happening. For instance, Asquith 
made the magnanimous gesture of giving up 
any Liberal places on the proposed committee 
of enquiry. It was of no avail.

Much is down to MacDonald personally. 
He was desperately tired and he preferred not 
to have the embarrassment of facing the Com-
mons to explain his errors and omissions on the 
Campbell case. He seemed to have fulfilled his 
statement of 14 February: 

Dealing with the kind of defeat on which 
the Government would resign, Mr Mac-
Donald said that it was impossible to give a 
precise definition, but added:
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‘I can assure the House of this, and about 
this there need be no fear, that the Govern-
ment will not remain in office five minutes 
after a Division in the House has deprived it 
of its dignity.’75 

However, it was his dignity that had been 
impugned – and that, apparently, was enough.

It certainly wasn’t the case either that the 
Labour government was keen to end its life. 
Arthur Henderson was out of the country and 
was ‘dismayed at the Prime Minister’s sudden 
decision to throw in his hand’;76 more signifi-
cantly, the House adjourned after Asquith’s 
speech so that the Cabinet could consider the 
situation. Chief Liberal whip, Vivian Phillipps, 
sets out the sequence of events:

The Cabinet conclave went on for about 
two hours. After it had been sitting for 
about an hour I received a message ask-
ing me to go round to the Prime Minister’s 
room where a leading member of the Gov-
ernment would be waiting outside to have a 
word with me.

The ‘leading member’ turned out to be 
Jim Thomas. He told me that the Cabinet 
was very divided. ‘Did I think anything 
could be done to avoid a smash?’

I said that I thought it would be a great 
mistake to rush at a decision, and that it 
would be wiser for everyone to sleep over 
the matter when a calmer view of things 
might prevail on the following day.

I suggested that if this course of action 
commended itself to the Government, 
they might announce when they returned 
to the Chamber, that they proposed to ask 
the House to adjourn the debate until the 
following day, when the Prime Minister 
would ask the leave of the Speaker to make 
a statement.

Jim Thomas appeared to think this a 
good idea and asked me, ‘Would Asquith 
agree to such a proposal?’ I replied that he 
could accept it as an understanding from 
me that if the Government decided to defer 
their decision to the following day, the Lib-
erals would raise no objection, and that I 
would arrange at once with Asquith for him 
to be at the House not later than 10 o’clock 
[that evening].

He seemed to be much relieved, and left 
me with the impression that my suggestion 
would be accepted by the Government.

Nothing more was heard until the Cabi-
net returned to the Chamber shortly after 
ten, when, to my surprise and to that of 
my leading colleagues whom I had kept 
informed of these latest developments, the 

Government put up Thomas to denounce 
our proposal for a Select Committee with 
bell, book and candle!77

And so the government fell and MacDon-
ald’s request to the king for a dissolution and 
a fresh election was acceded to. Lloyd George 
refused to make proper provision from his huge 
personal fund – around £150 million today – 
amassed largely from selling honours. He was 
only prepared to fund 300 candidates. Her-
bert Gladstone, the party chairman, scraped 
enough funds together to get 340 candidates 
into the field. Only forty were elected. A brief 
flurry under Lloyd George’s leadership in 1929 
increased that to fifty-nine but it was still piti-
ful. The decline had been fast and furious, from 
dominance to marginalisation in just nine years 
from Illingworth’s death whilst in office as 
the Liberal government’s chief whip. Labour 
suffered a similar serious defeat in a typically 
unpopular early election in 1924, assisted by the 
Zinoviev letter,78 which later turned out to have 
been a forgery, but the party was back in office 
in 1929, this time as the leading party, though 
without an overall majority.

Conclusion 
It is not in doubt that the Labour leadership 
had it in mind to manoeuvre to use the politi-
cal situation to choose their moment to have 
a fresh election with the aim of killing off the 
Liberal Party, but the question is when and on 
what issue? It did not envisage at the begin-
ning of the parliament that it might bring 
down the Labour Party at the same time. The 
evidence is strongly that the leadership did 
not intend to end the government after such 
a short and largely unproductive period. Fur-
ther the evidence is also that its image of an 
effective administration was continually and 
unnecessarily harmed by the lack of compe-
tence of its parliamentary administration. 
Thomas Jones, from his position as a very 
astute observer within the Cabinet secretariat, 
summed it up: ‘The two Whips, Vivian Phil-
lipps and Ben Spoor, were largely to blame for 
the present estrangement.’79 It is just possible 
that, if the 1924 parliament had set off with 
better intent and with effective and coopera-
tive Labour and Liberal whips, and had thus 
continued, having found a basis for coopera-
tion, there might have been the foundation for 
a very different politics in the ensuing years. 
It was certainly not inevitable for it to have 
foundered on such a capricious and unprepared 
issue. The obvious question one continually 
asks is, why did the leaders of both parties fail 
to notice the failings of the whips and rectify 
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the situation? But, they did not do so 
and the lessons remain:
•	 First, political organisation 

requires efficient and effective 
whips, managing parliament and 
liaising with the party in the coun-
try. There was an abject lack of 
awareness of this role, which gen-
erally is still the case today.

•	 Second, party unity is crucial. The 
split between Asquith and Lloyd 
George was highly damaging to 
the Liberal Party from 1916 right 
through to at least 1935.

•	 Third, a party without a class base 
is always more vulnerable under 
pressure. It has regularly to make 
the intellectual case for its policies 
and its actions. It is particularly 
difficult when there is a govern-
ment without a parliamentary 
majority, or with only a narrow 
majority. Throughout post First 
World War history a premature 
general election has been a set-
back for the Liberal Party – 1924, 
1931, 1951, 1966, Oct 1974 and 2017 
were all electorally bad for the 
party. Those who in 2010 favoured 
allowing the Conservatives to 
become a minority government 
should reflect on this.

•	 Fourth, history is important and 
the history of the nine months of 
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Coalition before party?
Reviews
David Laws, Coalition: The Inside Story of the Conservative–Liberal Democrat Coalition Government 
(Biteback Publishing, 2016); David Laws, Coalition Diaries 2012–2015 (Biteback Publishing, 2017)
Review by Duncan Brack

Although a number of former 
Liberal Democrat ministers 
have now published books 

dealing with their role in the Liberal 
Democrat – Conservative coalition 
government of 2010–15 (we reviewed 
Norman Baker’s and Lynne Feather-
stone’s in Journal of Liberal History 93), 
David Laws is the only author to have 
published solely on the coalition. Laws 
was a member of the Liberal Democrat 
coalition negotiating team in 2010, and 
then Chief Secretary to the Treasury 
for two and a half weeks until forced 
to resign over expenses claims. He 
returned to government in September 
2012 as schools minister and minister 
at the Cabinet Office, though in the 
interim period he had remained close 
to Liberal Democrat leader and Dep-
uty Prime Minister Nick Clegg. 

His first book, Coalition, is his sum-
mary of what happened throughout the 
lifetime of the government; it is pri-
marily descriptive rather than analyti-
cal, though it does end with a chapter 
examining how the coalition worked 
and what went wrong for the Liberal 
Democrats. Coalition Dairies comprises 
edited extracts from the diary he kept 
from early 2012. It doesn’t contain all 
that much significant additional mate-
rial, but it’s a very enjoyable read, more 
emotional and more revealing than 
Coalition, and illustrates well the day-to-
day pressures faced by Liberal Democrat 
ministers in government. Although, at a 
combined length of almost 1,200 pages, 
the books can be rather heavy going, 
both Coalition and Coalition Diaries are 
well worth reading. Coalition is essential 
for anyone seeking to understand what 
happened between 2010 and 2015, and 
Coalition Diaries adds colour and flavour.

So what do we learn from these 
books? Laws’ conclusions broadly sup-
port our findings, in the two special 
issues of the Journal of Liberal History we 

published on the coalition (issue 88, on 
the coalition in general, and issue 92, 
on the policy record): that in terms of 
government function, the coalition 
worked reasonably well, better than 
had been expected at its outset; that 
it delivered a considerable number of 
policy outcomes that a Conservative 
majority government would not have, 
and that it stopped an even larger num-
ber of Tory initiatives; but that nev-
ertheless, the Liberal Democrats made 
a number of key mistakes that con-
tributed to the catastrophe of the 2015 
election – though in reality the party 
would have suffered electorally even 
if it hadn’t made a single error. These 
books add significant levels of addi-
tional detail to the analysis in our two 
issues of the Journal.

The workings of the coalition
As Laws observes, the coalition worked 
better than almost everyone expected. 
He identifies a number of reasons: the 
generally good relations between the 
leaderships on both sides, the fact that 
both parties had previously been in 
opposition, and shared many views on 
the failings of the Labour government; 
and the fact that the key decision-mak-
ing structures – the ‘Quad’ of Clegg, 
Laws’ replacement as Liberal Demo-
crat Chief Secretary Danny Alexander, 
Prime Minister David Cameron and 
Chancellor of the Exchequer George 
Osborne, together with bilateral meet-
ings between Clegg and Cameron – in 
some ways effectively delivered a gov-
ernment of equals. 

Behind the scenes, things didn’t 
work so smoothly. Laws chronicles 
the steadily more evident divisions 
between the parties, fuelled by Cam-
eron’s accelerating slide to the right 
and determination to use the coali-
tion as a staging post to an outright 

Tory victory in 2015. In contrast, Lib-
eral Democrat ministers’ tendency to 
put coalition before party, particularly 
for the first twelve months or so, was 
one of the mistakes the party made, 
and contributed to their eclipse in the 
public view – polling after the 2015 
election showed not so much that the 
public disliked what Liberal Demo-
crats had done in coalition but had no 
real idea that they’d done anything; 
they saw it as basically a Conservative 
administration. This is not a conclu-
sion Laws draws, but it is borne out by 
several of his observations. Even where 
Liberal Democrat ministers clearly did 
make a difference, often by stopping 
Tory initiatives, this was not visible to 
the wider public.

Laws identifies welfare and tax 
policy as particular flashpoints, with 
Clegg increasingly finding himself 
defending the welfare budget against 
Cameron and Osborne (far more effec-
tively than Iain Duncan-Smith, Secre-
tary of State for Work and Pensions). 
There are repeated references to the 
Tories’ lack of interest in the poor-
est. After the disastrous reception of 
the ‘omni-shambles’ Budget in March 
2012, Clegg observed to Laws that both 
‘Osborne and Cameron have shown an 
extraordinarily tin ear to their great-
est vulnerability – that they only care 
for the rich and not for everybody else’ 
(Coalition, p. 131).

The Liberal Democrats’ vetoing 
of the constituency boundary review 
after Conservative rebels killed reform 
of the House of Lords in July 2012 is 
a marked example. Clegg’s private 
threats in advance of the vote on the 
Lords sent Cameron and Osborne apo-
plectic; Cameron predicted that he 
would lose the 2015 election without 
the new boundaries, and that ‘he would 
be savaged by the Daily Mail and the 
Telegraph’ (Coalition, p. 158). (Cameron’s 
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obsession with looking good in the 
right-wing press is another constant 
theme.) But as Laws pointed out, this 
was ‘the only thing the Tories under-
stand – clear threats and the exercise 
of power’ (Coalition, p. 153). In the end 
both measures fell, the Tories calmed 
down and the coalition carried on. 

By 2013 Cameron and the Tories, 
panicked by the growth in support for 
UKIP, were becoming even more dif-
ficult to work with; as Clegg said to 
Laws, ‘being in coalition with the Con-
servative Party feels like being stuck in 
a cage with a huge, mad gorilla’ (Coa-
lition, p. 388). Laws describes well the 
Tories’ abandonment of their – never 
very convincing – commitment to 

green issues in the face of rising energy 
prices, local Tory opposition to wind 
farms, lobbying by construction firms 
opposed to the zero-carbon homes 
standard and, probably most impor-
tantly, Labour leader Ed Miliband’s 
proposal for an energy price cap. After 
Cameron hinted several times that the 
government would reduce the levies on 
electricity bills that paid for renewable 
energy and energy efficiency measures 
– in defiance of the agreed coalition line 
– Clegg had to threaten him effectively 
with ending the coalition: ‘This has got 
to change. I am sorry – I have no inten-
tion of being a prisoner in my own gov-
ernment’ (Coalition, p. 378). By late 2013, 
energy and environmental policies had 
become the single biggest source of dis-
agreement within the coalition.

Another common feature was the 
Tory propensity to oppose Liberal 
Democrat measures in private and then, 
when Clegg and his colleagues stood 
firm, announce in public that it had 
been their idea all along – for exam-
ple over the increases in the personal 
income tax allowance. As Laws said, 
however, ‘The Tories are doing what 
politicians do. In future, we need to 
get their first ourselves. It’s no use play-
ing by the rules when the other team 
has torn up the rule book.’ (Coalition, 
p. 398) But later, when the same thing 
happened over the early years pupil pre-
mium, and the eventual compromise 
was for Clegg and Education Secretary 
Michael Gove to announce it jointly, 
Laws commented that this was: ‘hardly 
ideal, but what mattered to me more 
than anything was the policy substance 
itself’ (Coalition, p. 402) – a good exam-
ple of a Liberal Democrat minister put-
ting government before party. 

The psychology of coalition
Both of these books illustrate two 
important reasons why the Liberal 
Democrats struggled to maintain their 
identity in coalition. First is the ten-
dency of ministers to ‘go native’, to 
be captured by their departments. All 
ministers in all governments are prone 
to this; the business of government 
is so vast that inevitably they know 
less about their department’s activi-
ties than their civil servants – particu-
larly where they haven’t shadowed the 
department in opposition – and unless 

they are exceptionally able and excep-
tionally determined, often end up 
adopting the departmental line in most 
if not all respects. The second reason is 
similar: the desire of ministers to get 
on with their ministerial colleagues 
regardless of party. People working 
closely together under pressure, shar-
ing common objectives – the success 
of the government was clearly in both 
parties’ interests – almost inevitably 
come to develop a degree of respect for 
each other and a desire not to damage 
their future relationships. But in the 
case of a coalition, this is more likely to 
mean the smaller partner giving in to 
the larger than vice versa.

Both tendencies are well demon-
strated in the books, usually implicitly 
rather than explicitly. During Laws’ 
brief tenure as Chief Secretary, for 
example, he clashed with Business Sec-
retary Vince Cable during the nego-
tiations to identify the initial package 
of cuts the coalition announced soon 
after taking office: ‘He had been our 
Treasury spokesman until May 2010, 
and at that time he had been very 
“gung-ho” for cuts … But by the time 
he came to see me at the Treasury, he 
seemed to have gone native overnight.’ 
(Coalition, p. 34) 

A more striking example came in 
February 2012, when in a meeting of 
the Quad, Danny Alexander sided 
with Cameron and Osborne against his 
own party leader over cutting the top 
rate of income tax from 50p to 40p (on 
the grounds that it could be compen-
sated for by other taxes on the rich such 
as a mansion tax – though why Alex-
ander thought the Tories would ever 
concede that is a mystery). He did it 
again in September, failing to support 
Clegg’s desire to implement the Dil-
not Report on the costs of social care. 
In 2014 Laws records him wanting to 
make a speech advocating a fully bal-
anced budget in the next Parliament, 
with no borrowing allowed even for 
infrastructure investment. In Novem-
ber 2014, ‘Danny is still maintaining 
that there is a “huge prize” for us if we 
sign up to the new Osborne plan – as 
he claims that this would all be seen 
to be our great success’ (Coalition Dia-
ries, p. 427). As Richard Reeves, one 
of Clegg’s special advisers, put it in 
May 2012, ‘Alexander had ‘become the 
Treasury’s representative to the Liberal 
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Democrats, when it was supposed to be 
the other way round’ (Coalition, p. 144).

Another example is provided by Lib-
eral Democrat debates over whether 
they should veto the review of con-
stituency boundaries. Laws recounts 
a heated discussion in July 2012 when 
several ministers and special advisers 
urged the party not to kill the bound-
ary review, or at least not straight away: 
‘they were worried in particular about 
coalition relations if we just “blew up” 
boundary reform’ (Coalition, p. 154). 
Laws strongly argued for sending a 
signal to the Tories that the Lib Dems 
meant what they said; fortunately, 
Clegg came down on his side. 

In March 2015 Clegg agreed to the 
inclusion in the Budget of the Tory 
proposal for significant cuts in taxes 
on savings, at the cost of the Liberal 
Democrat proposal to increase free 
childcare for all families. The Tory 
counter-proposal was to raise it only 
for the children of working parents 
(Cameron’s main argument for this 
was that Paul Dacre, editor of the 
Daily Mail, ‘would go mad. He doesn’t 
think that mothers of young children 
should go out to work’ (Coalition, p. 
498)). Laws, and Jonny Oates, Clegg’s 
chief of staff, were deeply opposed to 
this trade-off, and Clegg himself wor-
ried that: ‘Have I done the right thing, 
or have I let the Tories walk off with 
it all? Have I given the Tories a tram-
poline into the election?’ (Coalition, 
p. 497). In the end Laws threatened to 
resign as party spokesman on educa-
tion if the childcare offer was not made 
universal; the Tories would not budge, 
so the childcare proposal was dropped 
entirely, just hours before the Budget 
statement went to print.

Although there are several exam-
ples of this tendency, it would be 
wrong to pretend that Clegg and his 
colleagues were simply a push-over; 
there are more cases where the Lib-
eral Democrats successfully dug their 
heels in. In 2012, for example, Clegg 
refused to support Cameron in a coali-
tion row over a possible independent 
enquiry into whether Jeremy Hunt, 
then the Culture Secretary, had bro-
ken the ministerial code by colluding 
with the Murdoch media empire to 
allow NewsCorp to take over BSkyB. 
As Clegg said to Cameron: ‘One of the 
things that I have learned to appreciate 

and admire about you, David, is your 
ruthless protection of your own par-
ty’s interests. I have put the coalition 
interest ahead of the party interest too 
much. You made this decision not to 
refer Hunt over a possible breach of the 
ministerial code without even bother-
ing to consult me. I am learning from 
you. Look at it that way.’ (Coalition, 
p. 162). In late 2012 he threatened to 
veto the Autumn Statement altogether 
unless the Tories dropped their pro-
posal for major cuts in benefits. ‘At this 
suggestion David Cameron had looked 
shocked. The eyes of the Cabinet Sec-
retary, Jeremy Heywood, had bulged 
visibly.’ (Coalition, p. 232.) Had the pub-
lic at large known about these kind of 
exchanges, they would have had a con-
siderably more positive view of Clegg 
than they did in reality.

One conclusion that can be drawn 
from this is that in any future coali-
tion the party will need someone with 
the explicit responsibility of scrutinis-
ing all coalition decisions, before they 
are made, with an eye to maximis-
ing Liberal Democrat interests across 
the entire government agenda. This 
is a tricky balance to strike: this per-
son needs at the same time not to need 
to worry about upsetting relations 
with the party’s coalition partner and 
also to have the authority to be able 
to veto proposals. After his return to 
government, Laws’ role at the Cabinet 
Office was designed to enable him to 
do this, and he lists many examples of 
Conservative proposals he held up or 
vetoed. In March 2015 he listed eight 
separate proposals he was blocking, 
sometimes because they were objec-
tionable, sometimes to gain lever-
age over Liberal Democrat proposals 
he wanted to push through (Coalition 
Diaries, p. 479). As he observed, ‘In 
coalition, “no” is a far more powerful 
word than “yes”. And when the other 
side of a coalition is determined not to 
do something, there is not much that 
you can do about it – unless you are 
prepared to trade something else off 
against it.’ (Coalition Diaries, p. 456).

Laws does not, however, consider 
whether the coalition’s decision-mak-
ing structures themselves undermined 
the Liberal Democrat profile. He com-
ments on the accidental emergence of 
the Quad as the key coalition decision-
making body, but does not discuss 

what impact this may have had com-
pared to the original notion of a much 
larger Coalition Committee, involv-
ing more ministers from each side 
(Coalition, p. 45). The Quad was clearly 
a more efficient decision-making body, 
but the fact that it included two Treas-
ury ministers, Alexander and Osborne, 
together with Alexander’s tendency to 
support Tory austerity objectives, had 
the effect of strengthening the hand of 
the Tories and the Treasury, and weak-
ening that of the Liberal Democrats.

Personalities
One recurring thread throughout both 
books – though I don’t think Laws 
intended this – is just how dreadful a 
Prime Minister David Cameron was. 
Time after time Cameron vetoes any 
proposal which might hurt Conserva-
tive voters or party funders, regardless 
of its merits. He even opposed his own 
2010 manifesto proposal for a £50,000 
cap on political donations.

On top of this was Cameron’s own 
lack of direction. As early as February 
2012, Laws recounts how ‘astonish-
ingly disillusioned’ one of Cameron’s 
own special advisers was: ‘I’d expected 
to find a Prime Minister who was stra-
tegic, modernising and focused on the 
big issues. Instead, Downing Street is 
utterly dysfunctional and Cameron is 
obsessed only with tactics, the media 
and opportunist interventions.’ (Coa-
lition Diaries, p. 1). By April 2013 Clegg 
claimed that he had lost all respect 
for Cameron. ‘He’s extremely petu-
lant and difficult over issues like this 
[the ‘snooper’s charter’ proposals], and 
utterly shallow in his engagement with 
policy … I have more time for George 
Osborne, who may be an arch-Tory 
but who at least goes out of his way 
to understand other people in politics 
and the way they see things. Cameron 
is not like that at all. He thinks he can 
bully people into things in a rather 
unattractive way.’ (Coalition Diaries, p. 
113) A month later Clegg even won-
dered whether the Liberal Democrats 
would have gone into coalition at all if 
they had known: ‘what the Tories were 
going to be like, and if we’d known 
how right-wing they would become. 
I had a telephone call with Cameron 
yesterday and frankly as far as I’m con-
cerned he’s lost any credibility as Prime 
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Minister of the United Kingdom. The 
way in which he discusses issues and 
the superficial way that he deals with 
important matters is just unbelievable.’ 
(Coalition Diaries, p. 125).

In July 2013 Clegg observed that: 
‘Cameron does have a lot of emo-
tional common sense, and good abili-
ties as a political leader. But I really 
don’t know what he stands for, other 
than keeping the Conservative Party 
in power.’ (Coalition, p. 312). After the 
Scottish independence referendum was 
defeated in September 2014, and Cam-
eron announced his intention to exam-
ine the possibility of devolving powers 
to all parts of the UK (thus betray-
ing his referendum campaign promise 
to devolve more powers to Scotland 
unconditionally), Clegg commented 
that: ‘I used to disagree with the Con-
servatives but at least respect them. 
But now I have contempt for what 
they have done. It is so bloody short-
termist and short-sighted.’ (Coalition, 
p. 449). This had followed a conversa-
tion with Cameron in which Clegg 
had warned that the Tory approach 
risked the break-up of the UK. Camer-
on’s response was eye-opening: ‘Look, 
Nick, I just don’t care. We’ve only got 
one Conservative MP north of the 
border. Let Labour sort it out. It’s now 
their problem.’ (Coalition, p. 449) 

If there’s anyone who comes out 
worse from Coalition Diaries than Cam-
eron, however, it’s Michael Gove, 
Education Secretary until 2014. Entry 
after entry records fundamental disa-
greements between Gove and Laws 
over education policy – including, for 
example, Gove’s efforts to pour money 
into his free schools policy regardless 
of outcomes, and his belief that local 
authorities should have no serious role 
at all in delivering education. More 
entertainingly, they also demonstrate 
how utterly bonkers he could be. In 
November 2013, for example, Gove 
attempted to exempt academy schools 
from the duty to provide free school 
meals, a Liberal Democrat policy about 
to be introduced. Laws attempted to 
discuss the matter with him, but Gove 
simply refused, even to the extent of 
hiding in the toilet to avoid meeting 
him. A few days later Gove gave orders 
that the desk reserved for Matt Sand-
ers (Clegg’s special adviser responsible 
for education policy) be removed. He 

also appeared to be largely unable to 
restrain his – if anything, even more 
demented – special adviser Dominic 
Cummings (who was later to run the 
Leave campaign in the Brexit refer-
endum), whose antics included ‘leak-
ing’ fictional documents from the 
Department for Education designed 
to discredit Clegg and Laws. It was 
behaviour such as this that eventually 
persuaded Cameron to move Gove 
from Education in July 2014. 

Liberal Democrat mistakes
One of the main errors the Liberal 
Democrats made in coalition was of 
course the botched handling of the 
increase in university tuition fees. 
Laws’ recounting of the episode in 
Coalition (pp. 49–63) is mostly a good 
one, though he omits any mention 
of Cable and Clegg welcoming the 
Browne Report, which made the case 
for increases in tuition fees (though 
without a cap, which the coalition 
introduced) as soon as it came out – 
which made it look as though the Lib-
eral Democrats were not only prepared 
to ditch their election pledge to oppose 
any increase in fees but to be positively 
enthusiastic to do so. 

Laws identifies two main errors 
that led to the disaster. First, he blames 
the party for sticking to its policy of 
abolishing tuition fees when Clegg 
proposed dropping it, in 2008–09. Sec-
ond, he blames the Liberal Democrat 
leadership, including himself, for not 
thrashing out an alternative position 
when it became clear, in October 2010, 
that Cable’s initial idea of a graduate 
tax was running into severe practi-
cal difficulties: ‘With a divided party 
and plunging poll ratings, this was the 
moment to decide to veto any rise in 
fees’ (Coalition, p. 60). With the ben-
efit of hindsight, the party should have 
insisted on its policy in the coalition 
negotiations; the inclusion instead of a 
provision to let Liberal Democrat MPs 
abstain on any proposal to increase fees 
was not just worthless but damaging. 
But, as Laws recalls, the negotiating 
team had decided months before not 
to press for it because neither Labour 
nor the Conservatives would support 
it – not, perhaps, the best approach 
in trying to reach an agreement with 
political enemies. Laws makes a good 

case of explaining why the policy 
wasn’t in reality a good one, given the 
pressure on public finances, but that 
argument with the party had already 
been lost. Given that opposition to 
tuition fees was one of the very small 
number of things many voters knew 
about the Liberal Democrats, and 
given the pledge that all party can-
didates had made to vote against an 
increase in fees, abandoning it was a 
huge political mistake.

The NHS reforms were probably 
the second-most serious policy error 
the Liberal Democrats made, though 
the mistake here – shared with David 
Cameron – lay in not strangling Health 
Secretary’s Andrew Lansley’s lunatic 
proposals at birth when he submitted 
them three weeks after the election, 
especially given the coalition agree-
ment’s explicit commitment to: ‘stop 
the top-down reorganisations of the 
NHS that have got in the way of patient 
care’. Laws blames a lack of attention 
from Cameron and Clegg, too busy 
sorting out the workings of the coali-
tion in its first few weeks, together with 
Cameron’s lack of interest in policy 
detail. The result was two years of a 
controversial and politically damaging 
reorganisation and a worse functioning 
NHS thereafter. As Clegg said in 2012, 
‘I should have pulled the rug out from 
under the NHS reforms and just killed 
them dead in 2010. I was trying too hard 
to work in a cooperative way with the 
Tories in that first six months of the coa-
lition.’ (Coalition, p. 75) 

Laws does not include economic 
policy in the list of Liberal Demo-
crat mistakes, but there’s a strong 
case for thinking it was one. During 
the coalition negotiations the Liberal 
Democrats effectively abandoned the 
position on which they had fought the 
election – for an economic stimulus 
based on infrastructure investment and 
a smaller reduction in current spending 
than the Tories had argued for – and 
simply adopted the Conservative posi-
tion wholesale. Partly one can blame 
the Greek debt crisis, which exploded 
the day after the 2010 election, but it 
can also be attributed to the Tories’ 
success at winning the argument over 
who was to blame for the economic 
crisis (later aided and abetted by Lib-
eral Democrat ministers, who were 
happy to join in on piling the blame 

Coalition before party?



40  Journal of Liberal History 100  Autumn 2018

on Labour). The end result was that 
the coalition ended up adopting a pol-
icy for austerity which the electorate 
expected from the Tories but not from 
the Liberal Democrats. 

Throughout the coalition, how-
ever, Liberal Democrats came to real-
ise that austerity was biting too deeply, 
and – with the exception of Alexander 
– increasingly opposed Tory propos-
als for further cuts. Vince Cable in par-
ticular did this publicly, for example 
in an article in the New Statesman in 
March 2013 and in a speech just before 
the Liberal Democrat conference in 
September 2013 – much to the irrita-
tion of Clegg, who felt that this made 
it impossible for the Liberal Democrats 
to gain any political credit for the signs 
of economic recovery that began to 
be evident from 2013. In reality, this 
might have been impossible anyway; 
experience from coalitions in other 
countries show that voters usually 
credit the party of the Prime Minister 
with any economic good news. 

One further mistake that Laws does 
recognise was the decision not to put 
Liberal Democrats in charge of any 
major spending departments, which 
contributed to their eventual invisibil-
ity. In May 2012, Clegg contemplated 

the possibility of taking on a big 
department, such as Business or Educa-
tion: ‘“the problem is”, said Nick, “that 
nobody knows what a Deputy Prime 
Minister actually does”’ (Coalition, 
p. 144). In March 2015, Laws records 
a discussion over Liberal Democrat 
demands for another coalition with the 
Conservatives after the election; this 
included arguing for something ‘very 
big’ in exchange for the Euro referen-
dum they assumed the Tories would 
push for, such as two mainstream pub-
lic service departments, perhaps health 
and education (Coalition Diaries, p. 481). 

I expect Laws wouldn’t share all of 
my judgements above, but I agree with 
the conclusion with which he ends Coa-
lition: that probably, even if all the mis-
takes had been avoided, the result in 
2015 would not have been all that dif-
ferent. ‘The truth is that we took one 
really big decision and one really big 
decision only. That was to go into coali-
tion in May 2010, rather than attempt-
ing a confidence and supply agreement 
with the Conservatives, or trying to 
knit together a multi-coloured coali-
tion with the Labour Party and others.’ 
(Coalition, p. 570). He does not, how-
ever, answer the question of whether, in 
the long run, it was worth it. While he 

defends the decision to enter coalition, 
and what Liberal Democrat ministers 
achieved, he observes that: ‘what we 
cannot yet know is what price we will 
pay in future influence because of the 
setbacks we suffered as a consequence, 
and therefore what the net balance of 
overall advantage to the Liberal cause 
will be’ (Coalition, p. 572). Nevertheless, 
‘for myself, reflecting back on my time 
in politics and on the Liberal Democrat 
achievements in government of which 
I remain proud, I join with other col-
leagues in concluding that for me, los-
ing my seat on 7 May was a price I was 
and am willing to pay.’ 

Whatever the outcomes, David 
Laws was at the centre of Britain’s 
first peacetime coalition for eighty 
years, and his story is required reading 
for any student of Liberal Democrat 
politics.

Duncan Brack is Editor of the Journal of 
Liberal History. In 2010–12 he was a spe-
cial adviser to Chris Huhne, the Liberal 
Democrat Secretary of State for Energy and 
Climate Change.

Both books are available to readers of the 
Journal of Liberal History at a special 
discounted price; see inside front cover.
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Votes for women
Report: The Liberal Party and Women’s Suffrage
Conference fringe meeting, 9 March 2018, with Krista Cowman and Jo Swinson MP; chair: 
Elizabeth Jewkes
Report by Astrid Stevens

This year marks one hundred 
years since the Representa-
tion of the People Act 1918 was 

passed under Liberal Prime Minister 
David Lloyd George, beginning the 
enfranchisement of women. However, 
while the vast majority of Liberal MPs 
supported the change, this support was 
not unanimous. The party had been 
divided for many years over the issue, 
and the previous Asquith govern-
ment had obstructed reform. Oppo-
nents argued both that politics was 
not the ‘proper sphere of women’ and 
that women, if enfranchised, would 
be more likely to vote Conservative. 
The divisions within the Liberal Party 
over votes for women, the stance taken 
by the Asquith government and the 
impacts on the party of the debates 
over women’s suffrage, were the sub-
ject of the Liberal Democrat His-
tory Group fringe meeting on Friday 
9 March, 2018, at the spring Liberal 
Democrat conference in Southport. 
With Elizabeth Jewkes (vice-chair of 
Liberal Democrat Women) in the chair, 
speakers were Krista Cowman and Jo 
Swinson.

Krista is professor of History at 
the University of Lincoln, where she 
researches women’s political activ-
ism in the twentieth century; she was 
also historical advisor for the 2015 film 
Suffragette. Jo is deputy leader of the 
Liberal Democrats, MP for East Dun-
bartonshire, a former government 
minister, and author of Equal Power: 
And How You Can Make It Happen 
(which examines the extent of gender 
inequality and how we could become a 
truly gender-equal society).

Krista Cowman opened by discuss-
ing women’s role in the Liberal Party 
at around the time when the women’s 
suffrage campaign was at its height, 
from the perspective of grass-roots 
politics and women’s activism. A key 

date in the history of women’s politi-
cal involvement in Britain was related 
not to women’s suffrage, but to the 
capping of electioneering expenses 
introduced by the Corrupt and Illegal 
Practices Act in 1883. Election work 
increased because 60 per cent of adult 
men now had the vote (and therefore 
needed to be identified, registered and 
canvassed), and new constituencies 
had been created. More women were 
drawn into the donkey work of elec-
tions and campaigning.

In 1884, the Conservative Party 
opened the Primrose League to 
women, appealing to the values of 
Empire, Queen and Country. For the 
Liberal Party, the independent wom-
en’s Liberal associations across the 
country united into a Women’s Lib-
eral Federation in 1887, more specifi-
cally party-oriented than the Primrose 
League. The Women’s Liberal Federa-
tion prioritised political education, 
aiming to enlist women’s sympathies 
on the side of Liberal principles. It 
developed a wide range of educational 
literature, and facilitated a network of 
skilled speakers, who promoted such 
ideas as that politics was a womanly as 
well as a manly duty, and that women 
should learn about politics to defend 
themselves against laws that interfered 
with their lives. At its peak in 1912, 
the Women’s Liberal Associations col-
lectively represented 133,215 women 
across 837 local branches.

Increased political education and 
activism led Liberal women more 
overtly into public life. By the end of 
the nineteenth century, women did 
have local votes for some councils, as 
well as for the Poor Law and School 
Boards. Women’s candidacy for elec-
tion had been assured from the 1870s 
and proved in law, but women council-
lors were rare before 1919, and party-
endorsed women councillors even 

rarer. Most women at this stage stood 
as independents, and even when a local 
party began to endorse women candi-
dates, there were reservations.

As the pro-Liberal Liverpool Review 
of Politics argued: ‘Women have also 
been, in some cases, elected to School 
Boards and other public bodies, and 
have discharged the functions associ-
ated with such with gentleness, intel-
ligence and tact. However, while 
woman nobly plans to warm and com-
fort and command, maybe of the most 
beneficent services as representatives 
of the Poor Law system to women and 
children, petticoats and street-paving 
politics are strangely incongruous. 
Neither in municipal administration 
nor in the conduct of affairs of local 
District Councils is the feminine ele-
ment countenanced.’

Divisions over whether or not 
women could be party candidates 
reflected a deeper divide in the Wom-
en’s Liberal Associations over the ques-
tion of women’s suffrage. In 1889, the 
Federation had voted down a motion 
to make suffrage part of its aims, by 
173 to 90 votes, because they felt it was 
too contentious, but the motion kept 
coming back, promoted by a progres-
sive group on the National Execu-
tive. Suffrage was finally adopted as 
an objective of the Women’s Liberal 
Federation in 1892 – the year in which 
Emmeline Pankhurst withdrew her 
candidacy for the committee of the 
Executive because she had just joined 
the independent Labour Party.

The next problem was whether or 
not suffrage should be a ‘test ques-
tion’, with Federation support with-
drawn from any candidate who openly 
opposed women’s suffrage. The issue 
was contentious, and became even 
more controversial when the militant 
suffrage campaign kicked off. Dur-
ing the election campaign of 1905–6, 
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Christobel Pankhurst and Annie Ken-
ney were arrested following their 
interruption of a Liberal Party meeting 
in Manchester. Christobel campaigned 
in a by-election with the policy slo-
gan ‘Keep the Liberal out’, and the 
Women’s Social and Political Union 
(WSPU) campaigned against any gov-
ernment candidate, regardless of that 
individual’s stance on suffrage. The 
emergence of militancy in the suffrage 
campaign coincided with the election 
of a Liberal government.

Suffrage came to dominate the 
agenda of local and national Women’s 
Liberal Association meetings, and mil-
itancy began to affect the Federation’s 
relationship with the Liberal Party. 
Some, such as Nessie Stewart-Brown, 
were strong advocates for party loy-
alty, while one woman resigned from 
council saying ‘I’m tired of work-
ing for Liberals when Liberals will do 
nothing for women’.

The Federation finally split on the 
issue in 1913, and a Liberal Women’s 
Suffrage Union was set up. Some 
women joined that; others left the 
party altogether to move into the 
National Union of Women’s Suffrage 
Societies, many of them going into the 
Labour Party after the war. When the 
National Union of Women’s Suffrage 
Societies decided to help the Labour 

Party at elections, many women Lib-
erals moved to the Women’s Citi-
zens Associations, which aimed to 
keep women’s suffrage prominent in 
the minds of women municipal vot-
ers by focusing on political education. 
Between 1912 and 1914, sixty-four 
local associations and 10,000 members 
left the Women’s Liberal Federation.

After reduced activity during the 
First World War, the Federation and 
the local associations ceased to be 
separate auxiliary organisations, and 
women were allowed to become equal 
party members for the first time. In 
1927, the Liberal Party appointed an 
official women’s organiser, with a desk 
at headquarters. Of the six women 
who sat as Liberal MPs in the party’s 
history, four of them (Margaret Win-
tringham, Vera Terrington, Hilda 
Runciman and Megan Lloyd George) 
were elected before 1929. Unfortu-
nately, the party’s electoral fortunes 
began to decline at precisely the point 
when women got their equal position, 
with women in the Liberal Party who 
were really at ease with their position 
as women and as political activists.

Jo Swinson opened her presentation 
by observing that history is largely 
written by men, and that this has 
always been the case. In the course of 
researching her book, Jo had learned of 

a recent proposal to the BBC for a story 
about prominent women throughout 
history, which the BBC had dismissed 
because they said it would be a ‘succes-
sion of kings’ mistresses’. Aside from 
the fêting of a few warrior women, 
very often the stories of women have 
not been told at all. Looking at our 
public infrastructure, the pages of our 
history books, the people commemo-
rated in statues and paintings, or the 
obituaries in the press, these are pre-
dominantly male, and that sends out a 
very clear signal. If we think that his-
tory is gender-neutral and objective, 
we are missing a point.

One argument suggests that men 
have just been doing more things of 
significance, and that the imbalance 
will change with time. But Jo thinks 
we shouldn’t kid ourselves that this is 
the case. Who is deciding what is sig-
nificant? Women have played unsung 
roles throughout history, and in poli-
tics, but those stories have not been 
told in the same way as for men. Some 
recent Hollywood films about wars in 
the twentieth century have been con-
troversial because of the ‘whitewash-
ing’ of history; we are not telling the 
stories properly if we do not recognise 
the contribution made to the armed 
forces by people from all around the 
Commonwealth, with all different 
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types of coloured skin. It is the same 
with women.

The Liberal History Group has pro-
duced pamphlets to make sure that 
those stories have been told about 
women in our party. But a recent 
Twitter exchange highlighted that an 
article on the party website outlining 
the history of the party didn’t mention 
Kirsty Williams (our current serving 
government minister) nor key by-
election winners, and that few women 
were mentioned there at all.

A hundred years ago, women got 
the right to vote. But legal rights 
are only the beginning of creating a 
change within society, because atti-
tudes take much longer to change. It is 
understandable that when women were 
given the vote, there was a unit set up 
in the party specifically to campaign to 
them, and to find the ‘woman aspect’ 
to every bill. No doubt if we get votes 
at 16, we’ll do the same: ‘How do we 
appeal to 16- and 17-year-olds, and 
what are the youth issues?’

A hundred years on, there is still 
much discussion about women’s 
issues. There are some women’s issues 
(for example, period poverty affects 
women and girls more than it does 
men), but there are similarly some 
men’s issues which have been over-
looked in parliament. We should be 
thinking about men’s issues and wom-
en’s issues, but we don’t – we generally 
think there are issues, and then there 
are women’s issues. We were in that 
mindset when women got the vote, 
and we still are. Men’s issues have not 
been championed by MPs because for 
many men, gender is invisible. But if 
you are a woman experiencing gender 
inequality on a regular basis, then it 
isn’t invisible.

For a long time in politics, certain 
subjects were deemed appropriate for 
women to speak about, such as health 
or education, and these would be the 
ones given to women ministers. We 
have never had a woman as Chancellor, 
nor as Defence Secretary. When the 
post of Defence Secretary last became 
vacant, despite there being a very well-
qualified woman who had been jun-
ior minister in the Department for the 
Ministry of Defence, the position went 
to somebody without that background 
or experience, who was deemed more 
appropriate because he was a bloke. 

When men are appointed to the posi-
tion of Lord Chancellor without hav-
ing a background of legal experience, 
few objections are raised – but when 
Liz Truss was appointed, this was sud-
denly an issue.

Jo recalled being shocked in 2005 
by reading of the overt sexism expe-
rienced in the House of Commons by 
women MPs. Many had been elected 
in 1997 (when the number of women 
MPs exceeded one hundred for the 
first time). Eight years on, the sex-
ism seemed less overt than it had been 
in the 1990s. But Jo and her fellow 
women MPs concluded that there is no 
meritocracy, and no sense of putting 
people with the right talents into the 
most effective positions. Reshuffles are 
more haphazard, based on who has the 
ear of the leader and where the politi-
cal power is, so they are quite hard to 
navigate. And this leads to women 
being overlooked, time and again. 
When the Liberal Democrats were in 
government, we didn’t appoint a sin-
gle woman to Cabinet, despite hav-
ing plenty to choose from. That kind 
of message does tell you something. 
We weren’t even appointing women 
to Cabinet in the same proportion as 
in the parliamentary party. And a lot 
of politics is done in informal circles of 
advisers, who can be more homogene-
ous than even a parliamentary party 
in terms of gender, race and opinion. 
‘Group-think’ is no better for political 
decision-making than it is for business 
decision-making.

A hundred years on from the suf-
fragettes and suffragists, much work is 
needed to unpick more than a century 
of assumptions, stereotypes and pigeon-
holing of women’s issues and women’s 
committees. Looking at the challenges 
of history shows where we’ve come 
from, but also helps us to recognise how 
far we have to go in the future.

A comment from the floor raised 
the point that, despite a limited num-
ber of women in the party being active 
in senior formal posts, a large num-
ber have been staggeringly influential. 
This reminded Jo of the 2001 confer-
ence debate on all-women shortlists, 
when a group opposed to the idea had 
concluded that spokespeople against 
such shortlists needed to be women in 
the party, and not men. Jo herself sum-
mated the amendment that ultimately 

stopped the party from adopting such 
shortlists. But after the decision had 
been made, she was disappointed to 
find that quite a few of the men who 
had argued against all-women short-
lists were also not prepared to con-
tribute to alternative efforts aimed at 
getting women more involved, such as 
training, mentoring, getting women 
to stand for parliament, or encourag-
ing them to speak at conference. Krista 
commented that women’s lives tend to 
get struck from the historical record, 
and that there are large numbers of 
politically active women whose sto-
ries we just don’t know – even for some 
very prominent women politicians: 
‘People can, mainly, name Nancy 
Astor at a push, but they struggle to 
name Margaret Wintringham (who 
was the second woman, and the first 
British woman, elected), and there are 
numbers of these pioneering women 
who just never figure.’

Asked whether the methods used 
by the suffrage campaign a hundred 
years ago still apply today, Krista said 
that rights are very rarely given by the 
privileged and the powerful, so you 
can’t just expect that things will get 
better; you have to organise to make 
things better. And sometimes rights 
have to be taken. Pardoning the suf-
fragettes now (as some have called for) 
would be wrong, because it was a very 
deliberate political choice that those 
women made, and they knew what 
they were doing. The campaign for 
a pardon, well meaning though it is, 
takes all the fire out of the suffragettes’ 
actions. Jo agreed, adding that it would 
also be better to campaign for some-
thing that would result in improve-
ment in the lives of women today. 
From the women’s suffrage campaign, 
Jo picked disobedience as something we 
could learn from. We should remem-
ber that the suffragettes were hated by 
many, including many women; they 
were beaten, groped, and force-fed in a 
way that we now recognise as torture. 
When you speak out for equality, and 
for people to have rights that they are 
not currently afforded, it feels uncom-
fortable, and it attracts vitriol, but that 
doesn’t mean that you’re wrong. Push-
ing the boundaries of the rules is neces-
sary in order to provoke change. And 
you need to remember that misrepre-
sentation of your efforts in the press is 
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a deliberate tactic, either conscious or 
culturally embedded, to make you look 
stupid and your ideas ridiculous.

Another question asked about the 
experience of women in other politi-
cal parties, in the immediate aftermath 
of 1918. Krista explained how the Con-
servative Party did exactly the same 
thing constitutionally as the Liberal 
Party, allowing women to become full 
and equal members of the party, but 
keeping their separate organisation. 
However, the Conservative Party’s 
organisation was much smaller than the 
Women’s Liberal Federation. The Prim-
rose League was on its way out by 1918, 
looking and feeling very Victorian, but 
the Women’s Tariff Reform Associa-
tion and the Conservative and Unionist 
Women’s Franchise Association meant 
that the Conservatives had large groups 
of women who were already organ-
ised, and they appointed a women’s 
organiser (with a desk at central office) 
round about 1920. The position in the 
Labour Party was different, because 
until reforms during the First World 
War, membership of the party had been 
through affiliate organisations and it 
had not been possible to join the Labour 
Party as an individual member. Larger, 
male unions therefore tended to be rep-
resented rather than women, although 
there were associated groups such as the 
Women’s Co-op Guild and the Railway 
Women’s Guild. Once individual mem-
bership was allowed, greater numbers 
of women joined, but even then their 
activism within the party was limited 
by union involvement and the block 
vote. Despite that, the Labour Party 
had appointed a women’s organiser by 
1918. So the Liberal Party was slower 
to appoint an organiser than the other 
parties, but had potentially the largest 
group at the end of the war.

In summing up, Krista commented 
that although the world was very 
different a century ago, with many 
changes over the course of the inter-
vening decades, we are still fighting 
some of the same challenges today. 
In the 1920s, Margaret Wintring-
ham’s main interests in the House of 
Commons were equal pay, equal suf-
frage, and the broader participation of 
women in public life – and with the 
exception of equal suffrage, we are still 
talking about those topics now. Krista 
pointed out that before 1919 women 

could not become lawyers, architects, 
magistrates or jurors, and it was not 
until the ’70s that women got equal 
pay. Jo highlighted the slow progress 
towards eliminating other inequali-
ties: rape within marriage was recog-
nised only in 1991, and even today it 
takes Wera Hobhouse’s current bill in 
order to make upskirting an offence. 
Jo agreed that Margaret Wintring-
ham’s primary issues were still cur-
rent. On the topic of equal pay, Jo was 
previously responsible for securing 
the government agreement to bring in 
gender pay gap reporting, and she sees 
votes at 16 as today’s ongoing battle for 
equal suffrage (although not specific to 

women). Representation continues to 
be an issue, with only a third of Liberal 
Democrat MPs being women (approxi-
mately the average in the House of 
Commons), and only the Conservative 
Party ever having elected a woman 
leader. ‘It’s absolutely spot on that a 
History Group meeting considers his-
tory, but also follows that through to 
what the lessons are for today.’

Astrid Stevens works in the software indus-
try, but has also been a technical author 
and freelance writer. Her leisure interest 
in history has been pursued through stud-
ies with the Open University and Dundee 
University.

Reviews
Diane Atkinson, Rise Up Women! The Remarkable Lives of the 
Suffragettes (Bloomsbury, 2018); Jane Robinson, Hearts and 
Minds: The Untold Story of the Great Pilgrimage and How Women 
Won the Vote (Doubleday, 2018)
Review by Krista Cowman

February 2018 marked 100 years 
since the Representation of the 
People Act finally gave parlia-

mentary votes to some British women. 
The centenary has been marked in 
numerous ways – television and 
radio programmes, statues, local and 
national exhibitions, a multi-site par-
ticipatory artwork – ‘Processions’ – in 
the UK’s four political capitals and a 
relisting of several listed buildings to 
emphasise their suffrage connections. 
Unsurprisingly there has also been a 
publishing boom bringing new inter-
pretations of the suffrage campaign.

These two books, published as part 
of the centenary events, present dif-
ferent facets of Edwardian women’s 
struggle for the vote. Diane Atkin-
son’s Rise up Women! is a formidable 
work, cramming a wealth of detail 
over almost 700 pages. Atkinson’s sym-
pathies lie unapologetically with the 
flamboyant suffragettes whose eclectic 
militancy spanned the decade before 
the First World War. A suffrage histo-
rian of thirty years experience, Atkin-
son was excellently placed to write 

this book, which goes beyond a formal 
organisational history of the largest 
militant society, the Women’s Social 
and Political Union. Her approach is 
more of a collective biography, mak-
ing full use of the wealth of recently 
digitised material also released to mark 
the centenary. The impact of these 
sources on the field cannot be under-
estimated. When Atkinson began suf-
frage research in the 1990s, revealing 
the names of the elusive tier of activ-
ists below the national leadership was 
a painfully lengthy process. The local 
reports columns of the WSPU’s weekly 
journals Votes for Women and The Suf-
fragette had to be scanned on microfilm 
or crumbling hard copy, and extracted 
names cross-checked in the local press. 
Searching the non-digitised census 
required an address (often not avail-
able) and the 100-year closure rule was 
outside the timeline of the militant 
campaign. The digitisation of local and 
suffrage newspapers, of birth, death, 
marriage and divorce records and of 
the census has transformed grass-roots 
suffrage research, bringing many more 
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snippets of information out of the 
shadows.

Rise Up Women! shows exactly what 
can be done when these snippets are 
combined into a coherent narrative. One 
result is a much more eclectic view of the 
class composition of the militant suffrage 
campaign. Despite almost three decades 
of a revisionist suffrage history that chal-
lenged interpretations of militancy as the 
plaything of wealthy women, the myth 
that working-class women eschewed the 
WSPU has proved remarkably tenacious. 
Atkinson’s book shows in rich detail how 
many ordinary women risked imprison-
ment and social ostracism. We meet Jane 
Short (alias Rachel Peace) who served 
prison terms for window-smashing and 
arson and was a working-class embroi-
derer. Short was one of the WSPU’s last 

prisoners, and her presence in Hollo-
way at the end of the militant campaign 
reminds us that it continued to attract 
women from across all classes even in its 
most extreme phase. Atkinson is attuned 
to the diversity of militancy, covering 
all aspects from interrupting meetings to 
mass window-smashing and from coor-
dinated disruption of church services to 
hunger strikes. Using different voices 
allows for wide exploration of the actions 
classed as militant, and their impact on 
those who carried them out, even when 
little more is known of their lives.

Jane Robinson’s Hearts and Minds 
takes a different focus, although she 
retains an interest in lesser-known 
characters. The book centres on a 
single event, the ‘Great Pilgrim-
age’ organised by the constitutional 
National Union of Women’s Suffrage 
Societies (NUWSS) in 1913. Groups of 
women walked from across the coun-
try on a march culminating in a rally 
of 50,000 in Hyde Park. Serious suf-
frage scholars would take issue with 
Robinson’s claim that this is an entirely 
‘untold story.’ Some of the ground has 
been covered in Sandra Stanley Hol-
ton’s 1987 work Feminism and Democ-
racy, and Jo Vellacott’s 1993 biography 
of NUWSS worker Catherine Mar-
shall gives it a whole chapter. That 
nobody has yet done a book-length 
study of the pilgrimage is probably 
because as a single event it may be 
deemed too slight for such treatment. 
Nonetheless Robinson has made excel-
lent use of unfamiliar testimonies of 
the marchers, dispersed across record 
offices in Britain and the USA and now 
brought together to present a detailed 
picture of the two-month walk.

Robinson captures the hostility 
faced by the marchers for their public 
stance. Women are mistaken for suf-
fragettes, pelted with eggs by oppo-
nents of the militant campaign, and 
refused food in wayside inns. March-
ers in Oxford are put in serious jeop-
ardy by a gang of local youths intent 
on burning down their caravan. We 
learn how the camaraderie of being 
on the road and their enthusiasm for a 
shared cause keeps them going in this 
hostile atmosphere. Unfortunately, the 
book overall does not retain this close 
focus. Despite stating that women 
were ‘more likely to have been a ‘gist’ 
than a ‘gette’ (p. xv), there is much 

here on the WSPU, perhaps because 
of the difficulty of stretching the nar-
rative over the pilgrimage alone. This 
shift in focus brings in numerous small 
errors that detract from the book’s 
authority. Some of these may only be 
noticed by the most keen-eyed suf-
frage geek. Wolverhampton suffra-
gette Emma Sproson would not have 
received ‘the usual award’ (p. 61) of 
Sylvia Pankhurst’s portcullis brooch 
on her release from prison in 1907, as 
this was not designed until some years 
later. Others are more obvious. Votes 
for Women was not ‘renamed The Suf-
fragette’ (p. 98), but remained with the 
Pethick Lawrences on their expulsion 
from the WSPU in 1912. The suffra-
gette colours unveiled by Emmeline 
Pethick Lawrence for Women’s Sunday 
in 1908 were consistently referenced as 
purple, white and green, featuring in 
a suffragette song of this name – not 
violet, white and green as a ‘convenient 
acronym for give women the vote’ (p. 
70), something that was imposed retro-
spectively. In other areas the narrative 
does not expand to cover what could 
have been included. The large number 
of suffrage organisations is acknowl-
edged but a list omits any of the occu-
pational or religious groups and while 
these are occasionally referenced later 
in the text, their scope and spread 
remains unclear. 

The book attempts a less formal aca-
demic style, but its footnoting is not 
comprehensive, and there are some 
surprising omissions. The section on 
obscure but influential early cam-
paigner Jessie Craigen owes much to 
Sandra Holton’s Suffrage Days, which 
does not figure in either the footnotes 
or the select bibliography. Neither 
do works on the immediate post-war 
period by Pat Thane or Cheryl Law, 
although their conclusions are reflected 
in Robinson’s text. This makes it 
less useful as a scholarly work, but it 
remains a compelling read. Together 
the books suggest that a century later 
we still have much to learn about the 
lives and actions of those who helped 
achieve votes for women.

Krista Cowman is Professor of His-
tory, University of Lincoln. Her publica-
tions include Women in British politics, 
c.1689–1979: Gender and history (Pal-
grave Macmillan, 2010). 
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Baroness Tyler opened the meet-
ing by noting ironically that the 
period featured two ingredients 

that attendees had come to know and 
love: snap elections and Liberal–Con-
servative coalitions. Indeed, the paral-
lels with and significance for our own 
time were features throughout the 
meeting. The evening’s two speakers, 
Alistair Cooke (Lord Lexden) and Ken-
neth O. Morgan (Lord Morgan), whilst 
providing different perspectives on 
the election both broadly divided their 
remarks into four main areas: the run-
up to and context of the election; the 
election itself and its significance; the 
immediate consequences of the election 
in terms of the government that was 
formed; and lastly the longer-term con-
sequences for British politics.

The immediate political backdrop to 
the election was the Representation of 
the People Act 1918, the Speaker’s Con-
ference of 1916 that preceded it and the 
putsch against Asquith in December 
1916 as a result of which Lloyd George 
emerged as prime minister but with-
out a party. The Fourth Reform Act, 
as Lexden described it, was larger in its 
sweep than any of its nineteenth-cen-
tury predecessors, extending the fran-
chise further than all the other Acts put 
together. The Act extended the vote 
to all men over 21 regardless of wealth, 
class or housing tenure (matters over 
which reformers and their opponents 
had long haggled) and to most women 
over 30. The electorate numbered 21.4 
million compared with 7.7 million in 
1910. It was also noted in response to a 
question that the extent of the reform 
seemed to shut down any talk of further 
changes to the electoral system, such as 
the use of the Alternative Vote.

Morgan noted that the Lloyd 
George coalition had an ‘unreal 

nature’, dependent as he was on the 
votes of Unionist MPs. He needed 
to ensure a future for himself and 
his party. Morgan noted that Lloyd 
George recognised that the old party 
system was changing with the issues of 
disestablishment, land reform and even 
free trade diminishing in significance. 
He expected a fight between himself 
and Henderson, the Labour leader. 
Lexden reported that the Union-
ists had turned from the vacillating 
Asquith to the dynamic Lloyd George 
‘with intense satisfaction’. Whilst they 
did not share Lloyd George’s deep dis-
trust of Haig’s conduct of the war in 
Flanders, and accepted high casualty 
figures with a shocking equanimity, 
they admired Lloyd George’s vigour 
and virtuosity as a strategist.

Lexden spoke at some length on the 
reasons for the Unionists continuing to 
work with Lloyd George, noting that 
they had both low and high motives. 
Among the latter was patriotism, 
which, Lexden noted, Unionists like 
to claim as their special characteristic. 
After 1915 that meant positive enthu-
siasm for working with other parties 
to win the war and ensure that Britain 
remained a great power. With the lat-
ter in mind, Unionists were conscious 
of the spectacular victories in Mesopo-
tamia and Palestine since 1916. Under 
the Lloyd George coalition the map 
had turned redder than ever before.

Nonetheless, Unionists recognised 
that the nation was deeply troubled, 
with acute industrial unrest and scenes 
of violence in Clydeside, Sheffield and 
elsewhere. This made it seem necessary 
to keep Lloyd George, and what was 
believed to be his special rapport with 
the working classes, at the helm in order 
to prevent a socialist revolution. The 
success of Labour in the 1918 election in 

obtaining a quarter of the vote whilst 
standing on an avowedly socialist pro-
gramme bolstered this position.

Base party considerations also 
pointed in the same direction. Noth-
ing was so obviously in the Unionist 
interest than a divided Liberal Party, 
and the deeper the division the better. 
There was ‘no surer way of Union-
ist ascendancy in British politics than 
through a broken Liberal Party.’ In 
Unionist minds, Lloyd George was a 
second Joe Chamberlain, a man who 
had been firmly captured by them. It 
was, nonetheless, an alliance sealed 
by great mutual admiration. Bonar 
Law and his main Unionist cabinet 
colleagues (Curzon, Balfour, Austen 
Chamberlain and F. E. Smith) greatly 
enjoyed working with Lloyd George 
and some of his principle lieutenants, 
Winston Churchill above all. 

Lexden reported that the election 
had been conceived in the spring of 
1918 as a khaki election to provide the 
coalition government with a mandate 
to see the war through to its conclu-
sion. At that point few expected the 
war to be concluded before 1919 and 
Lloyd George himself thought that it 
could continue till 1920. By the July 
of 1918, almost a hundred years to the 
day of the meeting as Morgan noted, 
the whip for Lloyd George’s Liber-
als, Freddie Guest, was negotiating a 
deal with the Unionists to ensure that 
the members of the coalition did not 
oppose each other in the forthcom-
ing election: hence the coupon, a let-
ter jointly signed by Lloyd George and 
Unionist leader Bonar Law.

One hundred and fifty-eight Lib-
eral candidates received the coupon 
at the election, ‘100 of whom are our 
old guard’, which Morgan argued was 
more than the Liberals deserved, indi-
cating that they did pretty well out of 
the deal. He was interested in learning 
why the Unionists put up with such a 
generous arrangement. Morgan also 
argued that out of the negotiations a 
kind of new party came into being: 
the Coalition Liberals. Practically, 
this was necessary as the supporters of 
Asquith, who had generally opposed 
the government in the later stages of 
the war, retained the party machine 
and the Liberal Publications Depart-
ment. Meanwhile another 253 Liberals 
stood without the coupon. According 

Report
The 1918 Coupon Election and its 
consequences
Evening meeting, 2 July 2018, with Alistair Cooke and  
Kenneth O. Morgan; chair: Claire Tyler
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to Lexden, this represented a breach 
so deep that a fully and enthusiastic 
united Liberal Party was an impossibil-
ity in the near future. Morgan agreed 
that it was a very painful schism and 
appeared to show Lloyd George break-
ing with his own party.

Morgan also noted that the choice 
of candidates to receive the coupon was 
very haphazard and itself caused a lot of 
bitterness. It had been said that whether 
someone received the coupon depended 
on whether they had supported the 
government in the Maurice debate in 
May 1918. However, Morgan noted 
that Trevor Wilson had demonstrated 
some time ago that this had not been 
the case. Of the 159 pro-government 
Liberal candidates, only 54 had sup-
ported the government in the debate 
and some had actually opposed it. One 
candidate even received the coupon 
even though he had said that he didn’t 
want it! Conversely some Liberal can-
didates who did not receive the coupon 
supported Lloyd George as prime min-
ister, as did some Labour candidates. 
Indeed, Morgan argued that it was a bit 
rash to be an opponent of the govern-
ment in the atmosphere of the election.

In the event, the sudden change in 
the tide of the war in the autumn of 
1918 converted the contest into a vic-
tory election. The focus of the election 
itself turned from war to peace. Keynes 
reported it as a jingoistic and chauvin-
istic election, whereas Morgan argued 
that this misrepresented what was a 
quiet even dull election. Nonetheless, 
Lloyd George stressed the importance 
of maintaining into the peace the unity 
of command that had ensured that the 
war had been won. He argued dur-
ing the campaign that ‘only unity can 
save Britain, can save Europe, can save 
the world.’ As a consequence, a kind of 
presidential election emerged which 
Morgan felt let Lloyd George down.

In the run-up to the election, Mor-
gan argued that Lloyd George’s main 
task was to win over his fellow Liberals. 
This he did through a ringing speech 
at the Reform Club on 12 November, 
the day after the armistice, declaring 
that ‘it is not revolution that I am afraid 
of; it is reaction that I am afraid of.’ 
He called for a government of social 
reform and international leadership.

A joint manifesto was produced 
for the election, which, according to 

Morgan, had a strong Liberal tinge to it 
with much on social reform and recon-
struction, reflecting the influence of 
Christopher Addison, the Minister of 
Reconstruction. Lexden described it as 
a ‘substantial programme of post-war 
reconstruction’. There was also a spe-
cial Liberal manifesto for the election 
produced by the historian and Minister 
for Education H. A. L. Fisher. Morgan 
added that, in his six major campaign 
speeches, Lloyd George spoke over-
whelmingly about social reform: about 
a ‘land fit for heroes’. He said little 
about ‘hanging the Kaiser’ or empha-
sising Germany’s war guilt. Only in 
the ‘off the cuff’ peroration of his final 
speech in the Colston Hall did he call 
for Germany to pay the uttermost cost 
of the war. Morgan suggested that it 
highlighted the risk of straying too far 
from one’s notes!

Lexden, meanwhile, felt that it had 
to be said that the prospect of punish-
ing the Kaiser and his defeated coun-
try did seem to have been uppermost 
in the minds of some of the electorate, 
encouraged by a lurid and irresponsible 
press campaign.

By any standards, Lexden argued, 
the election itself was a landmark one. 
The transition from a terrible war to 
peace was itself momentous. So too 
was the scale of change in the electoral 
system since the previous election eight 
years earlier. More than three-quarters 
of the electorate had never cast a vote 
for any party in a national election. In 
addition to women being able to vote, 
a handful stood as candidates for the 
first time one of whom, representing 
Sinn Fein, was elected.

Overall, the result was an over-
whelming victory for the coalition. 
Bonar Law declared that Lloyd George 
could ‘be Prime Minister for life if he 
likes’. The Liberal part of the coalition 
polled 1,400,000 votes and won between 
127 and 130 seats almost entirely with-
out any Conservative or Unionist oppo-
sition. The Unionists gained 332 seats, 
enough for a clear majority in the House 
of Commons. The alternatives were, 
according to Morgan, not very distin-
guished. The opposition Liberals were 
almost annihilated with only thirty 
seats and with their leader Asquith hav-
ing been defeated. Labour meanwhile 
polled 2,245,000 votes and gained fifty-
seven seats, becoming a national party. 

Morgan also noted that the character 
of the Unionist party in the Commons 
changed with many businessmen among 
their number who were not as reaction-
ary as might have been expected. They 
had often dealt with trades unions dur-
ing the war and had developed a sense of 
industrial partnership. The real diehards 
were in the constituency parties who 
emerged later in the parliament in the 
anti-waste campaign.

Morgan then went on to consider 
the record of the government that had 
been elected. He had initially reported 
the classic description by Keynes that it 
was of ‘a group of hard-faced men who 
looked as if they had done well out 
of the war’. Morgan noted, however, 
that it was a dangerous and difficult 
time for any government: the collapse 
of great empires; a time of impend-
ing class war; turmoil in Ireland with 
the rise of the IRA. Overall there was 
a general feeling that everything was 
different, in part brought about by 
the extension of the franchise and the 
empowerment of the working class 
and of women. 

Morgan argued that there was a 
serious attempt at social reform under 
the coalition government, with Addi-
son and Fisher especially active. There 
was an important Education Bill, a 
Ministry for Health and a programme 
of subsidised housing. Some of these 
proposals proved to be the target of 
the later anti-waste campaign and the 
Geddes Axe, which, in turn, led to the 
sense of a betrayal of promises. None-
theless, Morgan suggested that the 
reforms represented the last hurrah of 
New Liberalism and were an impor-
tant and underappreciated phase of the 
party’s history.

Lloyd George also sought to be rela-
tively conciliatory towards labour and, 
in Morgan’s view, handled the Triple 
Alliance’s threat of a general strike bet-
ter than the Baldwin government did 
later in the decade. He suggested that 
it was a result of Lloyd George’s open 
methods of diplomacy – the beginning 
of ‘beer and sandwiches’ at Number 10.

In Ireland, meanwhile, the gov-
ernment pursued a dreadful policy 
of retaliation through the ‘Black and 
Tans’. Despite that, in the end Lloyd 
George got what he wanted: a settle-
ment that others had failed to achieve 
and which has survived.

Report: The 1918 Coupon Election and its consequences
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Lloyd George also wanted to be a 
great conciliator on the international 
stage. He sought to reduce the repara-
tions on Germany and to bring Russia 
back into the comity of nations. Ironi-
cally, the cause of his downfall was 
the pursuit of a much more aggressive 
foreign policy in support of Greece 
against Turkey. In Morgan’s view the 
opposition from the Unionists came 
from an appeasement perspective not-
ing that Bonar Law wrote to The Times 
that ‘we cannot alone act as policeman 
of the world.’

Overall, Morgan argued, it was a 
defensible record in government, espe-
cially when bearing in mind that other 
countries lapsed into dictatorship. 
That Britain was relatively peaceful 
was down to the coalition. However, 
it came at the cost of the destruction 
of Lloyd George’s own party – some-
thing, Morgan later noted, he had 
always been rather careless about even 
in his earliest days in Welsh politics. 

The Coalition Liberals lost ground 
steadily to Labour from 1919. Mean-
while the independent Liberals were 
uncertain of their policy and had little 
to say in response to Labour. Despite 
by-election gains in Hull in 1919 and 
the return of Asquith at Paisley in 1920, 
they struggled to find a theme. Accord-
ing to Morgan they gave the impres-
sion of being elitist, high-minded and 
patrician, highlighted by the attempt 
to promote Edward Grey as a leader of 
an alternative Asquithian movement. 
Both wings had high hopes of reunion, 
but hints by Lloyd George in early 1920 
that there would be fusion between the 
government Liberals and the Unionists 

terminated that prospect. Essentially, 
Lloyd George did not have much inter-
est in his own party. Morgan described 
Lloyd George’s efforts as an attempt 
to leapfrog the party system. Even in 
October 1922, when he was ejected by 
the rebellion of Conservative back-
benchers, he was a strong coalitionist.

In his talk Lexden noted that, whilst 
critics of Lloyd George had always 
been present (he had been the Liberal 
the Unionists hated the most before 
1914), it would take four more years of 
the coalition to convince a majority of 
Unionists that the party should face 
the future on its own. Among the lead-
ership of the party the positive feelings 
they derived from working with Lloyd 
George did not lessen with the passing 
of the years, despite growing criticism 
of Lloyd George by junior ministers, 
backbench MPs and the party at large. 
Coalition became a way of life for the 
Unionist leadership, bringing together 
the best of Liberal and Unionist talent 
in government – they ‘never wanted 
coalition to end’. When asked why 
the leadership had not been aware of 
the growing rebellion, Lexden stated 
that it was down to the extraordinary 
obstinacy of Austen Chamberlain who 
simply would not accept advice. Mor-
gan agreed that there was a feeling of 
complacency perhaps exacerbated by 
the Tory whips themselves undermin-
ing the coalition. 

For those Unionists who did not 
believe in permanent coalition with 
Lloyd George (who were increasingly a 
majority), the implications of the elec-
tion were obvious. Their party was 
ideally placed to build a new political 

dispensation by attracting the votes 
of demoralised and bewildered Liber-
als through a genuine and deliberate 
promise of broad social reform and 
by treating Labour as a parliamen-
tary rival rather than as a threat to the 
established order. Baldwin, Lexden 
argued, knew how to make Toryism 
attractive to Liberals.

Though few would have pre-
dicted it, Lexden noted that the future 
belonged to the Tories. In the years 
between the wars they won five large 
parliamentary majorities – no other 
party achieved a majority at all. The 
1918 election was the first of these and 
a crucial staging post on the road to 
inter-war Conservative Party hegem-
ony. With 335 seats they could have 
governed alone in a parliament that 
Sinn Fein refused to attend. Further-
more, it was impractical to imagine 
the combined forces of the opposition 
bringing themselves to work together. 
Thus, the consequences of the 1918 
election were profound.

When asked what Lloyd George 
could have done differently morally or 
politically to avoid splitting the Lib-
eral Party, Morgan replied – almost 
anything other than what he did. 
He should have recalled the remark 
he made on the death of Theodore 
Roosevelt: ‘he should never have quar-
relled with the machine.’ Morgan did 
note, however, that it took two sides to 
make a quarrel.

David Cloke is the Secretary of the Liberal 
Democrat History Group.
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The BBC has received almost 
universal plaudits for its three-
part drama based on Jeremy 

Thorpe’s showmanship, high-risk 
behaviour, and multi-faceted political 
and personal life, inexorably leading to 
his trial for conspiracy to murder along 
with his former friend, David Holmes, 
and the two henchmen, John Le Mesu-
rier and George Deakin. Having been 
at headquarters at the beginning of 
Jeremy Thorpe’s leadership and having 
been Assembly Committee chair at the 
end of it, I was inevitably glued to the 
television screen. The political atmos-
phere of fifty years ago was vividly 
evoked by the drama and I certainly 
recognised many of the scenes depicted 
on the screen, including, suddenly, 
Mike Steele, the very effective party 
press officer at the time. From that 
point of view it was a worthwhile pro-
ject and a surprisingly successful effort 
to bring modern history to the screen.

I have never hidden my view that 
Jeremy Thorpe was a poor politi-
cal leader and a deeply flawed politi-
cian. In comparison with Jo Grimond, 
his immediate predecessor as Lib-
eral leader, his legacy was extremely 
thin. During nine years of leadership 
Thorpe left no legacy of writing – nei-
ther books nor pamphlets. He was 
a showman and a charismatic cam-
paigner with a capacity for making 
effective set speeches. To his credit he 
had a lifelong devotion to anti-coloni-
alism – which was rightly shown in the 
film – and this, plus a commitment to 
electoral reform, was a key motivation 
for his attachment to the Liberal Party 
despite his solidly Conservative fam-
ily history.

Even though the election of party 
leader at the time was in the sole hands 
of the handful of MPs, widespread 
consultations with party officials across 
the country were made – with candi-
dates, association chairs and leaders of 

council groups all being ‘phoned. The 
small ‘cabal’ of staff and officers at HQ 
opposed to Thorpe becoming leader, 
quite unofficially and quixotically, 
tried to prevent it by, for instance, try-
ing to persuade Richard Wainwright 
into being considered as an extra can-
didate. It was futile with Thorpe the 
only MP dating from 1959 and with his 
history having been hidden.

For the party managers the diffi-
culties with Thorpe were the eternal 
problem – that it is electoral suicide 
for a party to criticise its leader whilst 
in office. Consequently his autocratic, 
and sometimes domineering atti-
tude towards staff, his unwillingness 
to apply himself to difficult political 
issues, his preference for gimmicks 
rather than the necessary slog of day-
in-day-out election campaigning, his 
love of pretentious occasions which 
were at odds with the party’s image, 
his decision to confront the Young 
Liberals rather than seeking to pro-
mote conciliation, and his lack of 
transparency over funds he solicited 
personally, were all almost entirely 
kept under wraps out of party loyalty. 
For instance, the party treasurer, Sir 
Frank Medlicott, resigned ostensibly 
on health grounds even though he said 
to me that he was not prepared to be 
treasurer of a party in which the leader 
had secret funds. 

The remarkable internal party 
secrecy – until the Norman Scott affair 
broke in the media as a consequence 
of Scott’s outbursts – even extended 
to the parliamentary party keeping its 
knowledge of Scott’s allegations and 
the cover up within its ranks to itself 
and not even communicating it to 
party headquarters just along Victoria 
Street. 

One error that the BBC drama 
makes is to suggest that the occasional 
party mutterings against his leader-
ship were because of his presumed 

homosexuality. This is categorically 
untrue and it was a subject that was 
never mentioned. Similarly the depic-
tion of Emlyn Hooson is extremely 
flawed. Emlyn was a man of much 
greater intellect and standing than the 
film’s image of him. His portrayal as a 
sly politician always seeking an oppor-
tunity to topple Thorpe in order to 
take over the leadership has no basis 
in fact. He had certainly wanted to be 
leader – he stood in the January 1967 
election against Thorpe – but I have 
gone back over my files and all the 
publications and I know of no evidence 
that he took any action with a view to 
causing Thorpe’s resignation for self-
ish purposes. In fact, Emlyn’s leading 
role in discrediting Scott at the now 
infamous ‘star chamber’ meeting with 
Scott had the effect of entrenching 
Thorpe’s leadership. 

The BBC drama was also in error in 
suggesting that George Carman had 
confessed to having had some homo-
sexual tendencies. Quite apart from 
the irrelevance of such an inclusion, 
even if true, legal friends who knew 
Carman tell me that it was completely 
untrue and that, in fact, Carman was 
quite a predatory womaniser. 

Apart from these significant errors, 
the nature of producing a drama inevi-
tably led to the compression of certain 
events and to ‘sexing up’ an already 
lively story by quoting a number of 
rumours and allegations as if they were 
facts. Questions inevitably arise as to 
how and why Peter Bessell changed 
from being Thorpe’s totally loyal 
right-hand man, who took great risks 
in covering for him, to the chief pros-
ecution witness at the trial. The clue 
lies in a particular failing of Thorpe: 
that he demanded total loyalty, and the 
moment that there was any whiff of 
dissent then that supporter was simply 
cut off. It happened after Peter Bes-
sell had fled to California to escape 

A Very English Scandal
Hidden Liberal Traumas Exposed
A Very English Scandal, BBC One, 20 May – 3 June 2018
Review by Michael Meadowcroft



50  Journal of Liberal History 100  Autumn 2018

from his creditors and was no longer 
available for Thorpe at a moment’s 
notice and he realised that Thorpe was 
prepared to throw him to the media 
wolves. It happened similarly later 
on in the case when David Holmes, 
Thorpe’s previously close friend, real-
ised that he was being made to take 
the whole blame for what Thorpe saw 
as the incompetence of the execution 
of the whole plot to silence Scott. It 
even extended to the wholly innocent 
friend, Nadir Dinshaw, who finally 
demurred at being the conduit for 
diverting cash from Jack Hayward, 
and was then threatened by Thorpe 
who said that ‘he would be asked to 
move on’, i.e. suggesting that, having 
an immigrant past, his residence in the 
UK might not be secure!

The film takes the simplistic media 
view that because Peter Bessell’s affairs 
were in disarray, he let the party and 
his family down by abandoning his 
parliamentary seat and by fleeing Brit-
ain, and therefore his whole political 
career must have been a sham. In my 
view this is unfair. For much of his 
time in parliament he was a loyal and 
able spokesman for the party, with 
whom I worked on speeches and arti-
cles. He certainly became unreliable 
as his personal and business affairs col-
lapsed and he was never going to be a 
compelling prosecution witness. His 
book Cover Up has some errors, but it is 
a far more reliable record of the whole 
period than is often admitted. 

The party’s problem with Thorpe 
came to a head at the 1978 Liberal Party 
Assembly at Southport. Knowing how 
disruptive his presence would be, hav-
ing just been charged with conspiracy 
to murder, the new party leader, David 
Steel, had extracted a promise from 
Thorpe that he would not attend – a 
commitment he proceeded to break 
and duly hijacked the conference. The 
complete party confidentiality on the 
behaviour of Thorpe had meant that 
even its candidates had been kept in 
the dark. One candidate, Dr James 
Walsh from Hove, tabled a motion 
censuring the party’s officers for their 
treatment of its leader! The then three 
key officers, Gruff (later Lord) Evans, 
party president, Geoff (later Lord) Tor-
doff, chair of the party executive, and 
myself as chair of the Assembly Com-
mittee, and thus in the hot seat, met 

and decided to take the motion head-
on and that, if carried, we would all 
resign on the spot. The motion was 
taken at a private session of the Assem-
bly and Gruff Evans was ruthless in 
his detailing of the difficulties we had 
faced over many years, which were 
a revelation to delegates. Dr Walsh’s 
motion was duly withdrawn.

Two questions remain. First, was 
not Thorpe as leader responsible for the 
huge rise in Liberal support at the Feb-
ruary 1974 election? Not really. With 
his 1970 majority having dropped to 
just 369 votes, he was instructed firmly 
that he was not to set foot outside his 
constituency and he undertook no 
leader’s tour at the election. In fact the 
general election vote was on the back of 
a series of five by-election victories in 
Rochdale, the Isle of Ely, Ripon, Ber-
wick-upon-Tweed and, most remark-
able of all, Sutton and Cheam, won 
thanks to Trevor Jones’s campaigning 
skills. If anyone was responsible for the 
general election vote, it was he. Before 
this run of by-elections our poll rat-
ing barely climbed out of single figures, 
whereas from August 1973 to polling 
day it hovered around 20 per cent.

Second, was it really possible that an 
intelligent and highly regarded pub-
lic figure could conspire to murder a 

person, however miserable and threat-
ening the man in question had made 
his life over many years? The answer 
is that it was possible. No one, how-
ever apparently stable and sensible, 
is immune from becoming mentally 
unbalanced by the pressure of domes-
tic circumstances, and there is no 
doubt that it is conceivable that even-
tually Jeremy Thorpe could arrive at a 
point where he demanded, ‘Who will 
rid me of this turbulent Scott?’ As for 
evidence, after the trial, and after the 
death of David Holmes, Andrew New-
ton publicised recordings he had made 
of telephone conversations he had con-
ducted with Holmes which essentially 
admitted the conspiracy.

The BBC’s drama was compelling. 
The acting was remarkably good. In 
particular Hugh Grant’s absorbing 
of Thorpe’s mannerisms and his style 
of speaking was astonishing. It was 
a well worthwhile effort to popular-
ise a political era that many of us had 
endured! 

Michael Meadowcroft was a Leeds city 
councillor for fifteen years and a West York-
shire metropolitan county councillor for six. 
He was the Liberal MP for West Leeds 
from 1983 to 1987. He is a regular lecturer on 
political and local history.

Interview with David Steel

In July the Journal interviewed 
David Steel, Liberal Chief Whip 
1970–76 and Leader of the Liberal 

Party 1976–88, about his views of the 
BBC series and his recollections of Jer-
emy Thorpe.

JLH: You helped Hugh Grant prepare for 
the filming, I believe?
DS: Yes, he asked me to have lunch 
with him some months before the 
event, and we had lunch downstairs in 
the cafeteria, introduced by Evan Har-
ris. I’d only met him once before, but 
we had quite a long chat. He wanted 
to know about Jeremy Thorpe. Sub-
sequently he sent me a photograph of 
him in a shot from the film, and I was 
absolutely taken aback by how good 
the similarity was. In fact I showed the 

photograph on my mobile phone to 
various people, saying, ‘Who’s that?’ 
and they all said ‘Jeremy Thorpe’. And 
it was Grant.

JLH: What kind of thing did you talk 
about? What was he interested in?
DS: He wanted to know what Thorpe 
was like as a person. So I gave him the 
best I could of my recollections of Jer-
emy, who was a very charismatic figure.

JLH: What did you think of his portrayal of 
Thorpe?
DS: I thought it was very, very accu-
rate – astonishingly good, in fact. And, 
in fact, when I’ve seen Hugh Grant in 
other films, he’s always played Hugh 
Grant. Even in the Paddington Bear 
ones, it was still Hugh Grant. But this 
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time, I think it’s established him as a 
serious actor, it was such an accurate 
portrayal. He got his mannerisms and 
his way of speaking all correct. There 
were things that were not right about 
the script, but that’s another matter.

JLH: What was wrong with the script?
DS: I can’t tell whether it was the book 
[John Preston’s A Very English Scandal: 
Sex, Lies and a Murder Plot at the Heart 
of the Establishment (Viking 2016)] that 
was wrong or the film script. But, in 
particular, they seem to make a bit of 
a villain out of Emlyn Hooson, which 
is not right. And the very first moment 
when I appear in the film, Emlyn 
Hooson is introducing me to Norman 
Scott. That’s complete rubbish, because 
I remember very clearly that what 
happened was that Scott’s landlady in 
Wales was a constituent of Emlyn’s – I 
think possibly knew Emlyn, I’m not 
sure – and she arranged to bring him 
down to meet Emlyn. And of course, 
typical Emlyn, he was in court the day 
they came and asked me if I would 
meet them instead. He was also under 
the impression – because the woman 
had written to him about allegations 
against a colleague – that she was com-
ing to talk about Peter Bessell. So I was 
ready to hear things about Peter Bessell 
– which wouldn’t surprise me! – and 
then out came this story about Thorpe. 
But the film got it completely wrong. 
The film was entertainment, so I don’t 
think it matters all that much. But it 
was a bit hard on Emlyn. The fact that 
he’d stood for the leadership against 
Thorpe was neither here nor there. 
The other thing that was odd was they 
showed a scene of me announcing that 
Thorpe was elected leader and he then 
wielded a sword and cut a cake. Well, 
that was all complete rubbish. No such 
thing ever happened.

JLH: What did you think of the portrayal of 
Peter Bessell?
DS: I thought it was again remarkably 
good. Bessell was always regarded by 
his colleagues as a bit of a charlatan, 
and I thought that came across well.

JLH: So it wasn’t a surprise that Bessell 
turned up as a witness against Thorpe in the 
court case?
DS: Nothing about Bessell would 
surprise anybody. He wrote that 

extraordinary book and then he signed 
this fatal contract with the Sunday Tele-
graph – which, of course, the lawyers 
blew out of the water, and helped get 
Jeremy off.

JLH: I think there was also a problem with 
the cars that Thorpe was shown driving?
DS: When I received the photograph 
of Grant, it was supposed to be Jer-
emy Thorpe coming out of his car, and 
I looked at it and I said immediately, 
‘The car is wrong.’ They had him driv-
ing a three-litre Rover and he didn’t – 
he drove a Humber Super Snipe. The 
reason I remember it so well is because 
he drove me around on polling day in 
my by-election in the car – and I know 
about cars! They also had him down at 
his cottage driving a white Triumph 
Stag; in fact it should have been a white 
Rover 2000. It didn’t affect the story, 

but it was just irritating and unneces-
sarily wrong.

JLH: One comment that people made was 
why on earth didn’t they manage to get Nor-
man Scott a National Insurance card?
DS: It’s a very good question – and I 
don’t know the answer. It has always 
struck me as peculiar that the whole 
thing hinged, according to Scott, on 
the fact that he didn’t have a National 
Insurance card. I mean surely, if 
Thorpe was going to all this trouble – 
talking to Reginald Maudling and all 
the rest of it – surely he could have got 
him a new National Insurance card? 

JLH: As portrayed in the television series, 
Thorpe says: ‘Can’t we kill him?’ Do you 
think he actually said that at any point, or 
was it more like: ‘Can’t we just do something 
to get rid of him?’

David Steel and Jeremy Thorpe at the unveiling of Thorpe’s portrait in the 
National Liberal Club
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DS: I have no idea. It is possible. Jere-
my’s downside was that he was a bit of a 
fantasist, and it could be that he might 
have said that. But certainly I was 
totally unaware of any such conver-
sations. Again, one of the things that 
was wrong in the film was that they 
showed him and Peter Bessell sitting at 
a table for two in the Members’ Din-
ing Room. Well that’s nonsense: they 
always sat at the oval table which the 
Liberal MPs occupied in the middle of 
the dining room, and that was where 
a lot of the conversations took place. 
Certainly not a table for two.

JLH: What did you think of Thorpe as 
leader?
DS: I was a great supporter and fol-
lower of Jeremy Thorpe and I thought 
he was a very good leader in that he 
enthused people, he was a great cam-
paigner. I suppose the main criticism 
that can be levelled at him was that he 
wasn’t really interested in developing 
the party’s policy in the way that Jo 
Grimond had. I remember John Pardoe 
telling me after Thorpe’s hovercraft 

tour in southern England that, ‘You 
know, we had all the details about 
what colour wellingtons we had and 
umbrellas and all the rest of it …’. And 
at the last minute he said to Jeremy, 
‘But what are we going to say?’ Jeremy 
hadn’t actually decided what the mes-
sage was going to be. 

JLH: He comes over in the series, at least 
in the first episode, as being genuinely moti-
vated by anti-colonialism.
DS: Oh, yes. Despite his background, 
which was very conservative, he was a 
genuine radical. It wasn’t put on; it was 
quite genuine. He was ferocious on Ian 
Smith’s rebellion in Rhodesia. Any-
thing to do with the underdogs, he was 
on the side of the less well-off.

JLH: Was European unity a particular 
cause of his?
DS: Yes. He led the party into the 
Division Lobby at a time when it was 
very important and our votes made 
all the difference. My recollection is 
that somebody tried to hit him in the 
chamber! 

JLH: On the negative side, there were the 
allegations about secret funds.
DS: Yes, he was very casual with 
money, to put it mildly. And of course 
that was how we fell out in the end – I 
said he had to resign when I discov-
ered that £10,000 had gone from the 
Hayward donation to pay for buy-
ing off the Scott letters. After he had 
been acquitted, the party executive 
wanted to pursue him for the return 
of the money. I had a meeting with 
Geoff Tordoff, who was chairman of 
the executive at the time, and I said, 
‘Look, please don’t do this. We’ve had 
months and months of the Thorpe 
thing and this will go on and on. If 
you can persuade the executive not to 
pursue him for the money, I will give 
you the undertaking that he won’t play 
any part in the public life of the party 
again.’ In other words, no peerage. 
That was the deal, and Geoff persuaded 
the executive. Subsequently Thorpe 
wrote to every one of my successors, 
right up to Nick Clegg, asking for a 
peerage, and I had to brief every one of 
my successors about the deal.


